

OPEN SOCIETY INSTITUTE EU MONITORING AND ADVOCACY PROGRAM

## Muslims in the EU:

Cities Report

## DENMARK

Preliminary research report and literature survey



# **Researcher:** Mustafa Hussain, External Lecturer, Dept. of Social Science, Roskilde University Centre

## **Table of contents**

Background	
Executive Summary	5
PART I: RESEARCH AND LITERATURE ON MUSLIMS	9
1. Population	
1.1 Muslim population estimates	
1.2 Muslim migration trends	
1.3 Citizenship	
2. Identity	
3. Education	
4. Employment	
5. Housing	
5.1 Settlement patterns	
5.2 Housing conditions	
6. Health and Social Protection	
7. Policing and Security	
8. Participation and Citizenship	
PART II: POLICY CONTEXT	
<b><u>1. Perception of Muslims</u></b>	
2. Administrative structures	41
PART III: CITY SELECTION	44
<b><u>1. Selection criteria</u></b>	
2. Copenhagen	47
<u>3. Aarhus</u>	
<u>4. Odense</u>	49
<u>5. Høj Taastrup</u>	
Annex 1. Bibliography	
In English	
In Danish	

## List of Tables

- Table 1. Immigrants and their descendants (2006)
- Table 2.
   Immigrants and their descendants (January 2001)
- Table 3.Employment rates among the economically active age group from selected<br/>predominantly Muslim countries (1 January 2005)
- Table 4.Employers and ethnic minority recruitment (2000)
- Table 5.Number of Danes and of people with origins from non-Western and Western<br/>countries, in the four selected residential areas.
- Table 6.Number of Danes and of people with origins from non-Western countries, on welfare<br/>benefits (Welfare Transfer Incomes, WTI), in selected residential areas.
- Table 7.Number of migrants with origins in predominantly Muslim countries in Copenhagen<br/>Municipality (Jan 2003)
- Table 8.Number of migrants with origin in predominantly Muslim countries in Aarhus<br/>Municipality (Jan 2003)
- Table 9.
   Number of migrants with origins in predominantly Muslim countries in Odense Municipality

## Background

This research paper, focusing on the situation of Muslims in Denmark, was commissioned by the EU Monitoring and Advocacy Program (EUMAP)<sup>1</sup>, of the Open Society Institute (OSI).<sup>2</sup> Similar reports have also been prepared for Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Sweden and the UK.

The overall aim of this series of research papers is to provide a comprehensive review of available research and literature on Muslims in each of these countries, including a bibliography covering the most relevant recent publications. Another aim is to facilitate the selection of a number of EU cities for inclusion in a proposed new OSI monitoring project to be initiated in 2007 — "Muslims in the EU: Cities Reports". This project will address policy on Muslims at the city, or municipal, level, as opposed to the national level, which is the more usual level of analysis for cross-country monitoring. It follows on from previous EUMAP reports addressing the situation of Muslims in Europe, in particular the 2004 report, *Muslims in the UK: Policies for Engaged Citizens.*<sup>3</sup>

Each of the research reports follow the same methodology, to provide comparative information across the countries covered, according to a common methodology prepared by EUMAP.<sup>4</sup> Part I of the report evaluates the availability of data and other information on the situation of — specifically — Muslims in Denmark, in the following areas: population, identity, education, employment, health and social protection, policing and security, and participation and citizenship. Part II addresses the policy context in Denmark, in particular with regard to the perception of Muslims, integration policy and administrative structures. Part III looks more specifically at the potential suitability of three cities in Denmark with significant Muslim populations for inclusion in the OSI "Muslims in the EU" city monitoring project — Aarhus, Copenhagen and Odense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Full details on the EU Monitoring and Advocacy Program (EUMAP) can be found at www.eumap.org.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Full details on the Open Society Institute (OSI) can be found at www.soros.org.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The full report, as well as previous EUMAP reports on the situation of Muslims in France and Italy, can be found here: <u>http://www.eumap.org/topics/minority/reports/britishmuslims</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The methodology for the research papers is available on the EUMAP website (www.eumap.org)

## **Executive Summary**

It is estimated that there are around 175,000–200,000 Muslims in Denmark, including both immigrants and their descendants. Reliable figures are not available, however, as Danish law prohibits the registration of citizens on the basis of their religion and ethnicity. Official demographic data recognises two main 'ethnic' categories: Danes, and foreigners and their descendants (this category is further subdivided into those from Western and non-Western countries). Of Denmark's total population of 5.4 million, 8.4 per cent (452,095 people) are immigrants and their descendants. Muslims constitute the majority of all non-Western immigrants and their descendants, as well as the single largest group among all minority faith communities in Denmark.

Over the last two decades, there has been a significant increase in the diversity of culture, language and customs in the Danish population. Significant levels of Muslim emigration to Denmark began in the late 1960s with the arrival of labour migrants from Yugoslavia and Turkey, as well as a small number from non-European countries (mainly Pakistan and North Africa). From the 1980s, there was a second wave of emigration, mainly of political asylum-seekers. These were mainly from predominantly Muslim countries — from Iran, the Middle East and Africa. There were also many new arrivals through family reunification. During the 1990s a further influx of, mainly Muslim, asylum seekers arrived from the Balkans, following the political disintegration of the former Yugoslavia.

The largest numbers of Muslims are concentrated in Copenhagen County and its sub-districts, followed by Aarhus, the second largest city, and Odense, the third largest. As in other European countries, migrants in Denmark settled mainly in the decaying inner city areas or in newly constructed high-rise suburbs around the larger cities.

During the late 1980s, a number of mayors from Greater Copenhagen County complained about the formation of "immigrant ghettos" and pressured successive governments to disperse immigrant populations more evenly, to reduce the burden on their social services budgets. In the early 1990s, restrictions were placed on new refugees, preventing them from finding housing beyond the municipality allocated to them for a period of three years. These provisions made it possible for the municipalities to refuse to provide housing and social welfare benefits to anyone who did not comply with residential restrictions.

In Denmark there is extensive research and literature on questions of identity, both with respect to ethnic minorities in general and Muslims specifically. Recent research indicates that, in current public, media and political discourse, the terms 'ethnic minorities' and 'immigrants' are unconsciously associated with Muslims. Furthermore, Muslim identity is often perceived as a binary opposition of everything that is popularly conceived to be 'Danishness'; according to this logic, one cannot be a Muslim and a Dane at the same time.

There are no exact figures for the number of pupils with a Muslim background attending Staterun public schools or higher educational institutions. Most available research on minority education focuses more broadly on differences in educational outcomes between bilingual pupils and children with Danish as their mother tongue. Since the 1980s, there has been a wide range of research on the education of bilingual pupils, covering topics such as cultural background, religion, mother tongue education, acquisition of the second language, gender roles and the structure of a Muslim family. More recent reports have also looked at aspects such as direct or indirect discrimination in the educational system. In general, studies indicate that Muslim pupils are in a disadvantageous position in the education system, and that this is for a number of reasons, and not merely due to their cultural background, as is often asserted in political and media discourses. There is no particular dress code for Danish public schools and the wearing of the *hijab* (headscarf) is widely accepted in schools.

In Denmark, the majority of ethnic minorities are to be found at the lowest end of the labour market in terms of skills and qualifications. It is only in recent years that the employment situation of ethnic minorities has received due attention from the research communities and the Government, who have acknowledged that labour market participation is the key to integration. However, there is a lack of research looking specifically at the impact of discrimination on ethnic minorities in the labour market, whether with respect to seeking employment or in work situations.

Research indicates that, even in their school years, young people from ethnic minorities have such low expectations for gainful employment that this impacts on their ambitions for further education. Of those who do reach universities, the vast majority study subject such as the natural sciences, IT, engineering and managerial sciences, but very few turn to social sciences or the professional fields that confine job opportunities primarily to the Danish labour market, such as law, sociology and national economics. And even for those with qualifications, there is evidence that ethnic minorities of non-Western origin do not benefit fully from their education and skills, whether obtained in Denmark or in any other country.

Among immigrants, people from predominantly Muslim countries have much higher unemployment rates, particularly those from non-European countries. For example, in 2000 the unemployment rate for people with origins in Somalia, Iraq and Morocco stood above 65 per cent, as compared to about 18 per cent for native Danes. Although the situation has improved slightly since then, due to the upswing in the Danish economy, Muslims still remain among the most marginalised groups in the Danish labour market. Those that are in employment are overrepresented in the least attractive and lowest paid job, or in self-employment. Lacking social networks beyond their own communities, many rely on family and friends when seeking employment, which tends to limit their employment to "dead-end" jobs at the bottom of the employment ladder without any career possibilities.

Minorities from non-Western countries — of whom the largest share is composed of households with a Muslim background — are concentrated in the three largest Danish cities: Copenhagen, Aarhus and Odense. The majority live in the Copenhagen area: about 70 per cent in Copenhagen County (of which one third live in Copenhagen Municipality). The remainder of the Muslim population is scattered across the country in relatively small numbers in a range of small towns and cities (notably, Esbjerg, Vejle, Kolding, Frederikssund, Slagelse, Helsingøre and Randers).

Half of the migrant population from non-Western countries of origin live in the social housing built between 1966 and 1980. These residential estates (the majority of which are in the Copenhagen area) account for the largest share of neighbourhoods that can be defined as socially deprived — overrepresented by low-income households, long-term unemployed, single parents, and immigrants. The housing situation of ethnic minorities, including Muslim minorities, is not a well-explored field in Denmark, however.

The settlement patterns of Muslims in Denmark are determined by a number of factors, including their disadvantaged position in the labour and housing market, discrimination, especially in the private rental market, concerns about security and safety, lack of knowledge about the housing market and a lack of resources to move to better dwellings. In fact, given their socio-economic position in society, most Muslim households have little choice in their place of residence and are strongly reliant on the availability of low-rent social housing.

Under Danish welfare legislation, all citizens and resident non-citizens are entitled to equal protection in case of illness and emergency situations. In other words, the universal provision of social security and health insurance applies to all who are residing legally in the country. This, however, does not imply that members of ethnic minorities do not face problems.

Health is another area of research concerning the Muslim minorities that has been underexplored for many years. However, this area is now receiving more attention from both the medical professions and the social sciences, particularly following the recent establishment of an interdisciplinary and independent Institute of Public Health at Copenhagen University. Earlier research in this area was mainly of an anthropological nature, focusing on the traditional Muslim cultures. Today, the focus has turned more to the real-life health problems prevalent among Muslim immigrants and their descendants, covering topics such as complications during birth and maternity, and frequently diagnosed diseases among the immigrant communities (such as diabetes, cardiovascular problems, and risks due to diet and lifestyle).

With the exception of the border control police, in general, minorities report few experiences of discrimination from the police. However, research on this area is limited. There is no specific literature on Muslims and the criminal justice system.

Over the past decade, there has been an exaggerated focus in the mass media and in the dominant political discourse on criminality among young people from minority groups. Tensions between the police and members of ethnic minorities, especially young people, are often a result of police profiling, leading to unwarranted stop-and-search practices, which occasionally resulted in some violent confrontations. Research has indicated, however, that an excessive focus on stereotype profiling of young people from ethnic minorities is itself a contributing source for the deviant behaviour among them. Prejudice against the police among minorities, particularly among young people, is perhaps one of the reasons why, despite the efforts made by the police, few individuals from ethnic minorities have sought a career in the profession. There is evidence that prejudiced views persist among working police officers, but these views are not very different from those of the general Danish population or institutions.

In June 2002, the Danish Parliament passed a package of laws to combat the growing threat of international terrorism, including giving the police greater powers of surveillance that can be used against Muslim groups or individuals. It has yet to be seen how the newly enacted anti-terror legislation has impacted on members of Muslim communities in Denmark.

At the moment, there are three parliamentary members with a Muslim background. Only Danish citizens can vote in national elections, however, since 1989 all immigrants with at least a threeyear legal stay in the country have the right to vote in the local elections, and to compete for these elections. Research has focused on the levels of participation of ethnic minorities in local and general elections and, more broadly, in the democratic processes. A poorly explored area is also the performance of the institutions / forums created by the State to include minority representation in the democratic decision-making processes, at the national and at the local level. These include integration councils at the municipality level and the Council of Ethnic Minorities at the national level.

With respect to the majority population's perception of the ethnic minorities in Denmark, one of the most debated publications was a nationwide survey of the attitude of Danes towards ethnic minorities. This found that 37 per cent of Danes would not like a Muslim for a neighbour, but, interestingly, when the adjective "Muslim" was replaced by "a person from another race", the proportion fell to 18 per cent.

There are two main schools of thought on public perceptions of Muslims in Denmark. The first finds that there has been no significant change in the public attitudes towards the immigrants, and that intolerance towards Muslims is rather a reflection of the fact that Danes are overwhelmingly secularised. By contrast, the other school finds that the situation has deteriorated since the late 1980s and that there has been a change of direction in perception, attitudes and institutional behaviour.

In comparison with other EU countries, much of the research on perception and attitudes in Denmark remains at a rudimentary stage. Nonetheless, it can be concluded that the ways in which Muslims are talked about in the public sphere and the daily media reduces the complexity of the cultural variations among Muslims and reproduces the existing stereotypes of them. Ethnic relations have become much more strained today, and intolerance and right-wing extremism has increased. Public opinion has become more critical towards Muslims, who, in the popular perception, are conceived as a culturally homogenous group of "foreigners" and a binary opposition of all that is Danish. Domestic observers and social science researchers have noted lately that Denmark, with its Muslim population of barely 170,000, has become a staunchly anti-Muslim nation. After some of the most obnoxious xenophobic propaganda during the general elections in November 2001, Denmark attracted a great deal of international criticism

Current integration policy aims to reduce the number of new entrants from non-Western countries, by tightening the legislation on political asylum and family reunification, and to force various measures of economic sanctions upon the unemployed members of ethnic minorities. This is reflected in a number of new policy measures introduced since 2002. Tougher restrictions have also been introduced on acquisition of citizenship through naturalisation. Family reunification has been tightened to such an extent that today it is virtually impossible for the members of ethnic minorities from non-Western countries to be united with their spouses in Denmark, unless a range of conditions are fulfilled by the applicants. In the case of naturalised citizens, they can be exempted from certain restrictions on bringing a spouse from abroad, for instance, the affiliation criteria, but only 28 years after the date of naturalisation. The restrictions apply also for the children of the naturalised citizens, who might even have been born, raised and schooled in Denmark. They must wait until they are 24 years of age before they are eligible to apply for a visa for their spouse.

The only official body to hear complaints against ethnic discrimination is a Complaint Committee at the Institute of Human Rights, but it has a very limited judicial mandate. The Government is in the process of planning to abolish this committee to replace it with a new board of complaints under the Ministry of Social Affairs.

### PART I: RESEARCH AND LITERATURE ON MUSLIMS

#### 1. Population

#### **1.1 Muslim population estimates**

The total population of Denmark is 5.4 million<sup>5</sup>, of which 463,235 (or 8.4 per cent) are immigrants and their descendants, belonging to various ethno-national groups, faiths or cultures (see Table 1).

The Danish law on registration and databases<sup>6</sup> prohibits the registration of citizens according to ethnic or religious identities. Official demographic data operate with two main ethnic categories: (1) Danes, and (2) foreigners (ethno-national groups) and their descendants — this category is further subdivided into Western citizens and migrants from non-Western countries.

Table 1, below, reflects the latest figures released by the think tank of the Ministry of Refugees, Immigrants and Integration (hereafter, Ministry of Integration), for the immigrant population of Denmark. These data have been calculated on the basis of information from the immigration authorities and the national bureau of statistics, Danmarks Statistik (Statistics Denmark), but they do not account for how many of this population have been granted Danish citizenship.

	Immigrants	Descendants	Total
Western countries	110,894	15,838	135,732
Non-Western countries	230,542	96,981	327,503
Total	350,436	112,799	463,235

#### Table 1. Immigrants and their descendants (2006)

Source: Ministry of Integration (2006)

According to the estimates of various research institutions and the Ministry of Integration's think tank, there are about 175,000–200,000 immigrants and their descendants from non-Western countries who belong to the Muslim communities living in Denmark today. These estimates were based solely on the number of immigrants and their descendants from predominantly Muslim countries. The remainder of the non-Western immigrants and their descendants are predominantly Asians from China, Sri Lanka, Vietnam, Thailand and the Philippines.

Table 2 below provides a general profile of the ethnically non-Danish population of the country as of January 2001, disaggregated by their country of origin. It is based on data gathered from various official databases, including Danmarks Statistik, as well as the immigration authorities and the local governments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As of 1 January 2006. Further details available in English on the website of Danmarks Statistikbank (Statistics Denmark), the national bureau of statistics at <u>http://www.dst.dk/HomeUK.aspx</u> (accessed on 22 February 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Law no. 429 of 13 May 2000 on Personal Data (*Persondataloven*),

Europe         215,450         Norway         14,920           Poland         12,390         Romania         2,070           Former Soviet Union         6,150         Spain         2,220           United Kingdom         11,670         Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470         Germany         25,320           Other         12,790         Morocco         8,100           Africa         38,450         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,920         14,920         14,920           Africa         38,450         Morocco         8,100           South and Middle America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         13,390           Lebanon         19,840         Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470	Region	Total	Country	Total
Europe         215,450         The Netherlands         4,960           Italy         3,110         50000         110         3110           Former Yugoslavia         41,230         Norway         14,920         90           Poland         12,390         Romania         2,070         Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,220         Poland         11,670         Sweden         14,570           United Kingdom         11,670         Sweden         14,570         Turkey         50,470           Germany         25,320         Other         12,790         Morocco         8,100           North America         38,450         Morocco         8,100         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140         South and Middle America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850              Italy         123,50         Italy         114,170         114,140           North America         6,850              South and Middle America         6,850              Milaia         3,280         Ira			Finland	3,840
Europe         215,450         Iceland         6,080           Italy         3,110         Former Yugoslavia         41,230           Norway         14,920         Poland         12,390           Romania         2,070         Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,2070         Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,220         United Kingdom         11,670           Sweden         14,570         Turkey         50,470           Germany         225,320         Other         12,790           Africa         38,450         Morocco         8,100           South and Middle America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             Icalan         14,200         India         3,280           Iraq         14,120         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,140           Iraq         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Na(2,480         Na(2,480           Pakistan         11,470         Na(4,40)         Na(4,40)			France	3,680
Europe         215,450         Italy         3,110           Former Yugoslavia         41,230           Norway         14,920           Poland         12,390           Romania         2,070           Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,220           United Kingdom         11,670           Sweden         14,570           Germany         25,320           Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           South and Middle America         6,850           Africa         38,450           South and Middle America         6,850           Italy         3,280           Iraq         14,120           India         3,280           Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			The Netherlands	4,960
Europe         215,450         Former Yugoslavia         41,230           Norway         14,920         Poland         12,390           Romania         2,070         Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,220         United Kingdom         11,670           Weden         14,570         Sweden         14,570           Sweden         14,570         Germany         25,320           Other         12,790         Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,410         Other         14,410           North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980         5,400         Sitenam         14,470			Iceland	6,080
Europe         215,450         Norway         14,920           Poland         12,390         Romania         2,070           Former Soviet Union         6,150         Spain         2,220           United Kingdom         11,670         Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470         Germany         25,320           Other         12,790         Morocco         8,100           Africa         38,450         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140         Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140         Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140         Other         14,140           North America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             Milippines         4,120         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790 <t< th=""><th></th><td></td><td>Italy</td><td>3,110</td></t<>			Italy	3,110
Europe         215,450         Poland         12,390           Romania         2,070         Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,220         United Kingdom         11,670           Sweden         14,570         Turkey         50,470           Germany         25,320         Other         12,790           Africa         38,450         Morocco         8,100           North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850             Mia         123,50         Afghanistan         4,830           Philippines         4,120         India         3,280           Izan         13,390         Izan         13,390           Lebanon         19,840         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980			Former Yugoslavia	41,230
Europe         215,450         Romania         2,070           Former Soviet Union         6,150         Spain         2,220           United Kingdom         11,670         Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470         Germany         25,320           Other         12,790         Morocco         8,100           Africa         38,450         Somalia         16,210           North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850             Morocco         8,100             Itag         14,140         Itag         14,140           North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850             Itag         14,140         Itag         14,120           India         3,280         Itag         14,120           India         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Ot			Norway	14,920
Komania         2,070           Former Soviet Union         6,150           Spain         2,220           United Kingdom         11,670           Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470           Germany         25,320           Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           South and Middle America         8,010           South and Middle America         6,850           South and Middle America         6,850           I23,50         Iraq           I23,50         Iraq           I24,500         Iraq<	Emana	215 450	Poland	12,390
Spain         2,220           United Kingdom         11,670           Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470           Germany         25,320           Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140           North America         8,010            South and Middle America         6,850            Morocco         4,830            Philippines         4,120         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980	Europe	215,450	Romania	2,070
Africa         United Kingdom         11,670           Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470           Germany         25,320           Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           Somalia         16,210           Other         14,570           Germany         25,320           Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140           North America         8,010           South and Middle America         6,850           Hait         6,850           Hait         4,830           Philippines         4,120           India         3,280           Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			Former Soviet Union	6,150
Africa         Sweden         14,570           Turkey         50,470           Germany         25,320           Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140           North America         8,010            South and Middle America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840         Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980         11,470         0			Spain	2,220
Africa         Turkey         50,470 Germany           Africa         38,450         Morocco         8,100           Morocco         8,100         0ther         12,790           Morocco         8,100         0ther         14,140           North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850             Morocco         4,120         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980			United Kingdom	$11,670^7$
Africa         Germany         25,320           Africa         38,450         Morocco         8,100           North America         38,450         Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140         Other         14,140           North America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             Microsco         Afghanistan         4,830           Philippines         4,120         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980			Sweden	14,570
Africa         Other         12,790           Morocco         8,100           Somalia         16,210           Other         14,140           North America         8,010            South and Middle America         6,850             Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980			Turkey	50,470
Africa         38,450         Morocco         8,100           Somalia         16,210         Other         14,140           North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850             Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840         Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980         11,470         0			Germany	25,320
Africa         38,450         Somalia         16,210           North America         8,010          14,140           North America         6,850             South and Middle America         6,850             Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iraq         18,100         Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840         Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980         11,470         0			Other	12,790
North America         8,010          14,140           South and Middle America         6,850              Asia         Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980	Africa	38,450	Morocco	8,100
North America         8,010             South and Middle America         6,850              Afghanistan         4,830         Philippines         4,120         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980			Somalia	16,210
South and Middle America         6,850             Afghanistan         4,830           Philippines         4,120           India         3,280           Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			Other	14,140
Asia         Afghanistan         4,830           123,50         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280           Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980		8,010		
Asia         123,50         Philippines         4,120           India         3,280         Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980	South and Middle America	6,850		
Asia         123,50         India         3,280           Iraq         18,100         Iraq         18,100           Iran         13,390         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980		123,50	Afghanistan	4,830
Asia         Iz3,50         Iraq         18,100           I23,50         Ican         13,390           Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980	Asia		Philippines	4,120
Asia         Iz3,50         Iran         13,390           Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			India	3,280
Asia         123,50         Lebanon         19,840           Pakistan         18,140         Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480         Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470         Other         8,980			Iraq	18,100
Asia         123,50         Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790         Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400         Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980         11,470			Iran	13,390
Pakistan         18,140           Sri Lanka         9,790           Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			Lebanon	19,840
Syria         2,480           Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			Pakistan	18,140
Thailand         5,400           Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			Sri Lanka	9,790
Vietnam         11,470           Other         8,980			Syria	2,480
Other 8,980			Thailand	5,400
			Vietnam	11,470
Total immigrants 392 610			Other	8,980
<b>10000 mmg10000</b>	Total immigrants	392,610		
<b>Total population</b> 5,349,000	Total population	5,349,000		

### Table 2. Immigrants and their descendants (January 2001)

Source: Fakta (2001)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Roughly estimated, about 3,000 of these are British citizens of Pakistani origin.

#### **1.2 Muslim migration trends**

A relatively large-scale labour migration to Denmark took place in the late 1960s — and for the first time from the outer boundaries of the European political geography — when the expansion of the post-war economy and industry necessitated the import of foreign labour from Yugoslavia and Turkey. This was followed by a small number of arrivals of immigrant workers from non-European countries, mainly from Pakistan and North Africa.

From the mid-1980s, there was a significant increase in the diversity of culture, language and customs in the landscape of the Danish population. This coincided with a structural change in the Danish economy, towards a post-industrial era characterised by high unemployment rates among unskilled workers, a greater mobility of production capital to labour-intensive areas of the expanding global market, and a shortage of high-tech professionals in the burgeoning knowledge-based new areas of economic production. The increasing migration to Denmark during the 1980s did not follow the logic of supply and demand equilibrium in the labour market. This flow has been termed the "second phase of immigration" (Diken, 1998), on the grounds that it was not a labour migration, like the one in the late 1960s, but was composed, rather, of an unexpected influx of political asylum-seekers from various war-torn areas of the Middle East, and Iranians fleeing the Islamic revolution. Another main source of increase in the Muslim population of non-European origin has been new arrivals through family reunification.

The largest groups of immigrants and political refugees arriving in Denmark — with the exception of Tamils from Sri Lanka — came from predominantly Muslim countries in the Middle East and Africa (such as Iran, Iraq, Lebanon, the occupied Palestinian territories and Somalia). Another large contingent of refugees for whom Denmark provided asylum during the 1990s was made up of Bosnian asylum-seekers, fleeing ethnic cleansing in the conflicts that resulted from the political disintegration of the former Yugoslavia. The majority of those granted asylum had a Muslim background.

Thus, among all the various groups of minorities who compose the present Danish population, Muslims are the single largest group among all minority faith communities. Thus, in mainstream Danish discourse, the concept of 'ethnic minorities' or 'migrants' has come to evoke only associations with Muslims (Hussain *et al.*, 1997; Hussain, 2000b; Hervik, 1999).

The settlement pattern of both the early labour migrants and, to a very large extent, also the political refugees from the 1980s, shows a similar trend to that observed in other Western European countries. They settled either in the decaying inner areas of the larger cities or in the newly built high-rise suburbs, adjacent to the industrial estates around the larger cities.<sup>8</sup> These areas are officially referred to as "ghettos" or "socially deprived quarters", or simply "the problem areas" (see Årbog om Udlændinge, 2005<sup>9</sup>). For further details on the concentration of immigrants from non-Western countries in specific residential neighbourhoods, see section 5 on housing.

The main Danish cities — Copenhagen, Aarhus, Odense, Aalborg, Vejle, Kolding and Esbjerg — all have a significant population of immigrants and refugees. The largest numbers of Muslims are concentrated in Copenhagen County and its sub-districts, followed by Aarhus, the second largest city, and Odense, the third; there are only a few Muslims in the fourth largest city,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, for example, Stephen Castles, *et al.* (1984). For the Danish context, a range of working papers by Jan Hjarnø prepared at the Danish Centre for Ethnic and Migration Studies, Esbjerg, point in the same direction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This is an annual official publication. Ministry of Integration, *Yearbook on Foreigners*.

Aalborg. This settlement pattern reflects the availability of menial job opportunities and cheaper social housing, and is partly also due to retaining a closer network with the community of one's own origin. However, none of the inner city areas or the industrial suburbs is inhabited by a single dominant ethnic or national group; they are, rather, multi-ethnic in their composition.

During the late 1980s, a number of mayors from the suburban municipalities of Greater Copenhagen County began complaining about the formation of the so-called immigrant ghettos, and pressured successive governments to spread out the immigrants more evenly to reduce the burden on their social budgets for schools, extra expenditure on the provision of mother-tongue education for pupils from diverse ethnic groups, social service expenditure, housing subsidies under the welfare provisions and increasing expenditure on social security benefits for the unemployed. (For details, see Schierup, 1993.) Schierup's analysis revealed that within the framework of a general crisis of the welfare State in Denmark, immigrants, and especially Muslims, were targeted as scapegoats, and their culture was blamed for being 'too different' to allow them to be integrated as successful citizens into the residential areas and into the labour market.

In the early 1990s, under pressure from several highly vocal local politicians, successive central Governments began to devise policies to restrict, for three years, new refugees from finding housing beyond the municipality allocated to them by the immigration and integration authorities. These provisions made it possible for the municipalities to refuse to provide housing and social welfare benefits to anyone who did not comply with residential restriction.

#### 1.3 Citizenship

The acquisition of Danish nationality has been made more difficult through a range of new rules introduced by the present coalition Government of Prime Minister Fogh Rasmussen, which came into power in November 2001. The latest amendment was introduced through the Parliamentary Act no. 311 of 5 May 2004, to the Law on Danish Citizenship no. 113 of 20 February 2003. The following is an outline of some of the prerequisites for citizenship according to the amended law on naturalisation, depicting current rules in force.

A child born in Denmark but having both parents with foreign nationality does not have any preferential right to acquire Danish citizenship. However, if one of the parents has Danish nationality, and provided that the child has been brought up and schooled in Denmark, the acquisition of Danish citizenship becomes relatively easier. However, the children of stateless refugees are exempted from this rule. They are eligible to obtain Danish citizenship regardless of their period of stay and schooling in Denmark.

Dual citizenship is not allowed and one has to surrender the previous passport to the authorities, before a Danish passport can be issued after the naturalisation.

Apart from the general formality requiring each applicant to declare solemnly that he or she will remain loyal to the Danish State and society, the applicant is required to declare his or her full criminal record; this includes any court convictions from minor fines arising from traffic violations. However, depending on the criminal record, the central authorities at the Ministry of Interior can decide, whether an application should proceed further. Previously it was not compulsory to mention minor offences that did not entail prison sentences. Furthermore, the required duration of stay in the country has been extended from 7 years to 9 years, calculated from the date of issue of the first residency permit, before an application can be accepted for

consideration — although this period is 8 years for those who have refugee status on their residency permits.

In addition to all this, the applicant must be economically self-reliant, should not have lived on welfare benefits for more than one year during the past five years, and must have no outstanding debts to the State (such as tax dues and unpaid fines), at the time of the application. Moreover, the applicant is required to provide a certificate of proficiency in the Danish language. From 2007 a new rule is in force, requiring all the applicants to pass a compulsory naturalisation test that will ascertain their knowledge of Danish society, its culture and its history.<sup>10</sup>

In Denmark, all the successful applications for nationality, after they have been thoroughly investigated by the police and the Naturalisation Office of the Ministry of Interior, proceed to a bill in Parliament, which ultimately approves the granting of nationality to each applicant by a simple majority vote. The Naturalisation Office does not publicly release figures on the number of applications that are rejected.

It ought to be mentioned at the outset that, although the census data does not classify the population according to the categories of faith and ethnicity, the central registration number that is assigned to each individual residing legally in the country contains a good deal of background information on each individual, such as date and place of birth, gender and national origin. Such information is required to be filled in the application form for obtaining the 10-digit personal identity number. This means that even if a person has become a naturalised Danish citizen, his or her original national, if not strictly ethnic, identity remains traceable. And this can be used to place the citizens and their descendants, albeit on a rough basis, into the category of faith too. For example, the second and the third generation of Pakistani parents, who had become naturalised at a certain point back in time, would still be calculated for analytical purposes as Muslims. However, when aggregated to a faith category, by reference to the national origin of parents and grandparents who migrated from a predominantly Muslim country, there is always a risk of including Christians, atheists or Hindus of Pakistani origin in such estimated figures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Source: website of the Ministry Integration (<u>www.inm.dk</u>).

#### 2. Identity

The question of identity has been discussed intensively, especially in the critical scientific literature in Denmark. Some recent scientific research has shown that the very concept of ethnic minorities, or immigrants, is unconsciously associated with Muslims in public, media and political discourse. The same can be said about the term 'ethnic", which is unwittingly used mainly for the non-white members of the population. Research has shown that even the descendants of non-white immigrants who are born and schooled in Denmark are identified with terms such as 'second generation immigrants', 'immigrant youth' or simply 'ethnic youth'. Regardless of generation, and especially in connection with media debates about gender inequality, domestic violence, forced marriages or other social evils, non-white women are talked about as "Muslim women" with connotations such as "subjugated" and "dominated by the clutches of their religion and culture" (see, for example Andreassen, 2005).

The cultural sociologist Necef (1996) examines the role played by acquisition of the Danish language among Turkish young people, in the formation of their self-perception. Anthropologist Mørck (1998) argues that young people live in a double-bind culture and are found in a space of "hybrid culture", somewhere between the parental homeland and the host society.

Following the research tradition of the Birmingham School of Cultural Studies, Flemming Røgilds, a sociologist, has worked for several years on the theme of "fluid" and "hybrid" identities, especially with respect to minority young people. However, most of his publications are written in a literary style, rather than in the traditional social scientific discourse (see, however, Røgilds, 1995 and 2002). Tufte (2001) examines the role that the national and international media play in the identity struggle of minority young people, and how they react to their portrayal in Danish mass media. Staunæs (2003) explores the intersection between gender and ethnic identity, with empirical reference to Muslim pupils in public schools. Also noteworthy is an unpublished Master's thesis by Christina Rask (2004), exploring how legal and dominating cultural discourses inscribe ethnic, gendered and religious boundaries around the construction of Danish identity. In this process, the Muslim background of the gendered subject plays a pivotal role.

Hvenegård-Lassen (1996) provides a perspective on the legal-juridical categorisations of citizens and non-citizens; on who belongs to the nation and who is on the fringes of its boundary. Hvenegård-Lassen's analysis is within a broader perspective of European identity and the nation State. Yilmaz (1999) raised some important questions about identity politics in Danish debate on immigrant issues by pointing out the symbiosis between elite interests and the mass media, which results in an exaggerated *ethnification* of minority representations. For a perspective on integration, and media practice around identity construction and representation of the Muslim minorities, two essays published in international anthologies (Hussain, 2000a; 2000b) can be considered relevant to this line of research on identity politics.

Two discourse analytical studies (Hussain *et al.*, 1997; Hervik *et al.*, 1999) have demonstrated that both in popular discourse and in media discourse the Muslim identity is constructed in an *Us* versus *Them* dichotomy. The anthropologist Peter Hervik thus demonstrated that Muslim identity is (re)produced as a binary opposition of everything that is popularly conceived to be "Danishness". According to this logic, one cannot be a Muslim and a Dane at the same time.

In addition to those mentioned above, there is a range of other studies and research reports that touch upon the topics of identity, nationalism, citizenship and ethnicity, as well as ethnocentrism, and their direct and indirect influence on exclusionary processes for the Muslims.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See, for example, the following: Mørck (1998); Mikkelsen (2004); Pakalski, K., & Maria Aarø (2000); Stonor (2000); Tireli (1996); Hervik (2003); Hussain (2003a; 2003b); Schmidt (2003); Landsted (2003); Nielsen (2003); Andreassen (2005); Gundelach (2002).

#### 3. Education

Danish law on registration and databases<sup>12</sup> prohibits the registration of citizens on the basis of their religion and ethnicity. This means that no reliable figures can be provided on the exact number of the pupils with a Muslim background attending State-run public schools or higher educational institutions. However, a number of independent reports and field studies, along with the various documents prepared by the educational authorities, think tanks and ministries, provide a profile of Muslims in the educational and vocational fields.

The key concepts through which the concentration, or proportion, of minority children in schools is accounted for are 'bilingual pupils' versus 'Danish pupils' (children whose mother tongue is Danish). Hence, there is no independent research or survey that can point to the exact number of Muslim children in a particular school, in a certain neighbourhood or in an entire municipality.

Initially, from the late 1970s, when Muslim families with school-age children became a reality for the local governments,<sup>13</sup> a number of measures were taken to adjust primary schools to the new demographic challenges. Among the main actors involved in this task were the teacher training colleges, which are scattered over various municipalities. But the overall responsibility for research on education of bilingual pupils lay with the Ministry of Education, universities and the Royal School of Education — which was also responsible for providing postgraduate training or refresher courses for schoolteachers. Most of the research documents thus stem from these institutions. The central theme, around which much of the research has been conducted, was initially called "education of the foreign-language pupils in Danish public schools".<sup>14</sup> Over time, the term "foreign-language pupils" was replaced by "bilingual pupils" in the research discourse, as well as in the official documents. A wide range of research on the education of bilingual pupils, covering topics such as cultural background, religion, mother-tongue education, acquisition of the second language (L-2), gender roles and the structure of a Muslim family, was carried out in the 1980s, and has continued ever since. Today there is an independent centre for research in bilingualism, called UC2, located in the outskirts of Copenhagen.

With regard to the focus of this present overview, the most prolific research and publications come from the research programme "Copenhagen Studies in Bilingualism" at the Royal School of Education. However, not all these publications are directly related to the schooling and learning of migrant children. Some of those related to the education of immigrants, both adults and children, with regard to the acquisition of the Danish language.<sup>15</sup>

There is also a range of studies that look at some other aspects of learning and education for minority adults, pupils and students, dealing with a wider spectrum of problems that ethnic minorities face in schools or other institutions of learning. The topics with which they deal range

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The Law on Personal Data (*Persondataloven*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In Denmark, primary and secondary schools are run and administrated by the local governments of the municipalities, pre-university colleges and other vocational colleges by the regional governments of the county, and institutions of higher learning by the central Government (i.e. the Ministries of Science and Education). However, despite the decentralised educational system, the overall educational policy is devised centrally by the national Government.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> It should be noted that there are also a number of private schools in Denmark, which have to meet certain basic judicial requirements set by the Ministry of Education.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> These include the following: Boyd *et al.* (1998); Gimble, J. (1998); Hetmar, T. (1991); Holmen *et al.* (1999); Holmen (2001); Holmen (2002); Horst, C. (1999); Jakobsen, V. (2002); Nielsen, J. C. (1997; 1998).

from, for example, the non-recognition of their educational achievements from the country of emigration, to discrimination faced during finding apprenticeship vacancies in Danish workplaces, or frequent absence from school among some migrant children.<sup>16</sup>

It should be mentioned here that since 2002, under the new legislation on public schools<sup>17</sup>, the provision of mother-tongue education for minority children has been rendered optional for the municipalities, whereas it had been mandatory until this amendment of the law.<sup>18</sup>

There is hardly any research-based publication or unpublished report that addresses the problem of direct, or formal, discrimination against ethnic minorities in the educational system, or discrimination against Muslims specifically. A rare survey of its kind, in which the four large Muslim ethno-national groups were asked about their own experience of discrimination in various spheres of life, 8 per cent of Bosnians, 12 per cent of Lebanese, 17 per cent of Turks and 26 per cent of Somalis reported that they felt discriminated against in schools and other educational institutions (Møller & Togeby, 1999). The survey does not elaborate, however, on the ways in which such discrimination was perceived by the respondents.

Some studies do indicate an indirect discrimination in the educational system, due to institutionalised practices, that undermines ethnic diversity and emphasises Danish language and identity as the "norm" (see, for example Kofoed, 1993 and Horst & Lund, 1994). Jensen (2000) demonstrates that applicants from ethnic minorities often fail to pass the admission test for the Danish School of Journalism, since the aptitude tests are designed in a manner that disregards alternative qualifications, and knowledge of languages and culture other than Danish.

A number of recent reports provide useful information regarding indications of indirect discrimination at various levels and in various areas of the educational system, or the disadvantaged position of pupils with language deficiencies or a lack of familiarity with the mono-cultural educational system.<sup>19</sup> These factors can have an important impact on Muslim pupils, such as with respect to their school drop-out rate or future job opportunities. A general conclusion that can be drawn from these studies is that, in comparison with the native Danes, Muslim pupils are to be found in a disadvantageous position in the education system, and that this is for a number of reasons and not merely due to their cultural background, as is often asserted in political and media discourses.

With regard to assessing discrimination in the overall educational system, two recent reports by the EUMC's Raxen programme, National Focal Point for Denmark (2004); (2005) are the most comprehensive sources to date. These reports, as well as the Ministry of Integration's Think Tank reports (2004); (2006) and Uni-C Statistik (2005), along with an interview-based survey by Mikkelsen (2001), also provide an overview of ethnic minorities' educational attainment and, to a certain extant, general trends in educational choice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The most recent among these studies and surveys include: Mehlbye, J., *et al.* (2000); Mørkeberg, H. (2000); Nielsen, J. C. (1996); PLS Rambøll Management (1996); PLS Rambøll Management (2002); Rosholm, M., *et al.* (2002); Seeberg, P. (1995); Gundresen, Mette *et al.* (2003). A detailed review on each theme included in the titles above, however, is beyond the scope of this overview.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Circular no. 618 of 22 July 2002, issued with reference to paragraph 5, Art. 7 of the Law on Public Schools.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Until this new legislation, State-run schools were obliged to arrange teaching of the mother tongue alongside the Danish language, if a class could be established for up to 12 pupils belonging to the same language group. If there were fewer than 12, the pupils were enrolled in such a class in the nearest school.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See: Bundgaard & Gulløv (2005); Christensen & Sloth (2005); Colding (2005); Dahl (2005); Dahl & Jacobsen (2005); Egelund & Rangvid (2005); Krejsler *et al.* (2005); the Ministry of Integration's Think Tank (2005).

It should perhaps also be mentioned here that there is no particular dress code for the public schools. As such, the wearing of the *hijab* (headscarf) has been widely accepted in schools, despite the heated debate in the press. Some problems had been reported on the question of separate shower and swimming facilities for the Muslim pupils, especially the girls, at some schools, but these have been solved locally by the school and the municipal authorities, in dialogue with the Muslim parents. The Muslim teachers at all levels of educational institutions do not assert their separate Muslim identities, and it is only the teachers of the public schools that have organised themselves around the association of mother-tongue teachers.

#### 4. Employment

State agencies dealing with employment issues do not distinguish between the ethnicity or faith of the unemployed, as this is prohibited by law. This includes the national bureau of statistics (Danmarks Statistik), the local and regional labour exchanges, State-subsidised unemployment insurance associations (A-Kasse) and labour unions

However, a number of research projects in the jurisdiction of State institutions, such as the Ministry of Integration's think tank, as well as other independent research institutions, do calculate the employment rates for the Danes and the non-Danish members of the labour force. But here also it is national origin, not religious identity, which is used as a criterion.

In principle, all immigrants with a work permit, regardless of their national origin, are entitled to the right to work and to become members of their respective labour unions.

The majority of ethnic minorities are to be found at the lowest end of the labour market in terms of skills and qualifications. For those with qualifications, the research literature suggests that ethnic minorities of non-Western origin do not benefit fully, on an equal footing with the rest of the population, from their education and skills — whether obtained in Denmark or in any other country (see, for example, Rezaei & Goli, 2005).

Tranæs & Zimmerman (2004) demonstrate that, while education, training and language skills are determinants of the kind of jobs that the immigrants hold, ethnic identity also plays a role. That is, discrimination is also a crucial factor. However, the questions of how crucial, and in which job situations and for which ethnic groups, still remain an unexplored terrain across the plethora of publications that have emerged in the past decade.

A further factor in explaining labour market disadvantage, one that has gained increasing attention from labour market experts in recent years, is the network relations within the national and ethnic groups, and across the ethnic boundaries and in the wider society (for example, Mikkelsen, 2001; Dahl & Jacobsen, 2005; Jagd, 2004).

This shift in understanding the higher unemployment rate among Muslim or ethnic minorities through the network theory is captured in the National Focal Point report on education (National Focal Point for Denmark, 2004: 14):

Most studies in labour market relations have been inspired by human capital theory, operationalised and measured by education, training and job experience. An alternative way of looking at labour markets, matching processes and barriers is social capital theory, where social resources are resources accessed through an individual's social connections.

These social connections or social networks give different access to the labour market and to different positions within the job hierarchy. Thus, recent studies of entrance into the job market show that the native population, in general, use a mixture of weak and strong ties, whereas immigrants mainly had to rely on strong ties, that is, information on vacancy from close relatives, friends and family members. These jobs were so-called dead-end jobs at the bottom of the job ladder without any career possibilities.<sup>20</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The observations here draw a great deal on Ejrnæs (2003).

However, before reviewing academic research, along with other official and semi-official documents, on the labour market situation for the Muslim minorities, this is an appropriate place to introduce some recent data on the situation.<sup>21</sup>

Country of origin	<b>Employment rate (%)</b>	
	Male	Female
Turkey	62	42
Iraq	37	14
Lebanon	37	13
Bosnia-Herzegovina	54	44
Pakistan	63	32
Former Yugoslavia	60	46
Somalia	27	11
Iran	54	40
Afghanistan	24	13
Immigrants and descendants — total	55	41
Native Danes — total	81	75

## Table 3. Employment rates for the economically active age group from selected predominantly Muslim countries (1 January 2005)

**Source:** Ministry of Integration (2006)

The figures in Table 3 are from the Ministry of Integration's think tank report. They were derived by operationalising the categories "native Danes" and "immigrants and their descendants from non-Western countries". The figures provided for Vietnamese (a non-Muslim group) indicate that their rate of employment stood at 67 per cent for males and 53 per cent for the females, a figure that is significantly higher than any group from Muslim countries.

What is also noteworthy in the above table is the fact that the risk of being unemployed becomes greater if the Muslims have their background in the least developed countries and if their phenotypic appearance, dress, and so on, deviate from the typical European look. Thus, light-skinned Bosnian men and women, who are indistinguishable from the rest of the Europeans, apparently, face less discrimination in the employment market, although their level of education and skills do also play a part in this.

It should be noted that the above figures stem from a period when the Danish economy is booming and at present has reached almost full employment and is struggling with a bottleneck problem in some sectors of the economy.

Another way to look at the employment situation for Muslims would be to go back in time to see the difference between various national groups. Thus, in 1996, the percentage for the various categories, both male and female included, was recorded as Native Danes (7 per cent unemployed), Nordic Citizens (13 per cent), Former Yugoslavians (24 per cent), Turks (41 per cent), Africans (37 per cent), Americans (16 per cent), Pakistanis (40 per cent) and the rest,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Although the data presented here concern migrants from predominantly Muslim countries, there is also a tiny minority of non-Muslims among these national groups, such as Christians from Pakistan and Lebanon, or Bahais from Iran. It is matter of common observance that the nationals from these predominantly Muslim countries with a non-Muslim background are seldom found unemployed. Because of their small percentage in the group, statistically their number remains insignificant, yet it does provide a clue to the claim that a Muslim name, in addition to national origin and ethnic identity, renders access to the ordinary labour market more difficult.

including Palestinians and Arabs (37 per cent) (Larsen, 1999:57). Four years later, in 2000, the overall picture for Muslims, as compared to other immigrants from non-Western countries and native Danes, remains the same. For example, the unemployment rate for Somali, Iraqi and Moroccan groups (male and female combined) has been recorded as above 65 per cent, but the figure was less than 40 per cent for immigrants from Thailand and Vietnam, and about 18 per cent for native Danes (Ministry of Integration, 2002:31).

Although the situation has improved slightly due to the upswing in the Danish economy over the last 2–3 years, the Muslim minorities still remain among the most marginalised citizens of Danish society, with regard to the employment market. Those that are in employment are either self-employed in branches such as grocery shops or newspaper kiosks, taxi-driving and ownership, or they work in the least attractive and low-paid job markets, such as in private cleaning firms or hotels, restaurants and catering (Ministry of Integration, Yearbook, 2005); (Rezai & Goli, 2004); (Mikkelsen, 2001).

A survey-based research by Mehlbye *et al.* (2000) has demonstrated that expectations for gainful employment among young people from the ethnic minorities are already so low in their school years that this might have some effect on their ambitions for further education. Most of them expect to be unemployed when they reach their mid-twenties, whilst the native Danes, on the other hand, envisage themselves as studying for higher education by that age. Husted *et al.* (2000) have calculated that compared to the native Danes, the economic pay-off of higher education for the ethnic minorities is much lower in the Danish labour market. Perhaps it is no surprise, then, that a vast majority of the students who do manage to reach universities are to be found studying natural sciences, for example medicine, IT, biology, engineering and managerial sciences, but very few turn to social sciences or the professional fields that confine job opportunities primarily to the Danish labour market, such as law, sociology and national economics.<sup>22</sup>

According to a research review on integration, carried out on behalf of the Ministry of Integration (2002), it is a common assertion that some ethnic groups such as Pakistanis or Turks are often found to be self-employed, because they have a "natural aptitude for entrepreneurship". However, this claim is refuted by some other studies (Jensen *et al.*, 2001; Rezai, 2002) on the grounds that these groups of immigrants face difficulties in finding a job in the regular labour market (Ministry of Integration, 2002:38).

By the late 1990s, an experimental study, undertaken by Hjarnø & Bager (1997), had shown that the chances of an applicant being called for a job interview varied at a ratio of 1:32, depending upon whether the individual had a native Danish name or a typical "immigrant name", respectively, in situations in which both the applicants had the same formal qualifications. The study was based on 439 telephone calls to different firms seeking young recruits. The callers introduced themselves both with typical Danish names and alternatively Turkish, Arab and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This observation is based on personal experience of the Muslim community by the author of this report as well as insight from the university as a teacher and supervisor for graduate papers in social science. No rigorous study on the choice of subjects for higher education among the minority groups has come to the surface so far. Only a few years ago there were some media reports stating that many well-educated members of the ethnic minorities leave for the UK, the USA and elsewhere for jobs after completing their education in Denmark. These included, reportedly, medical doctors, dentists and engineers. This topic of a "brain-drain" due to discrimination was taken up once again in the weekly newsletter of the Federation of Labour Organisations (LO), entitled "A4", in spring 2006.

Pakistani names. Another survey — initiated and financed by the 13 associations of highly qualified professions (such as engineers, psychologists, dentists, college lecturers, etc.), and conducted by a reputed private company, Vilstrup Research, in 2000 — demonstrated that every fourth personnel chief in private firms and in the public sector expressed prejudiced views about professionals belonging to ethnic minorities, and thus would prefer a "real" Dane in a hiring situation.

On an open-ended question on "What do you think is the reason behind the relatively high rate of unemployment among highly educated members of ethnic minorities?" the personnel chiefs interviewed came up with the following responses:

Responses of employers to the question:	<b>Proportion of employers (%)</b>	
"What do you think is the reason behind the	In private	In public
relatively high rate of unemployment among	firms	organisations
highly educated members of ethnic minorities?"		_
Language deficiency	52	54
Prejudice among employers	25	29
Cultural difficulties (with minorities)	24	26
Uncertainty about their education	11	11
Regard of employed (Danish) staff	7	7
Regard of (Danish) customers	6	5
Lack of skills (ethnic minorities)	5	5
Lack of flexibility (ethnic minorities)	4	3

#### Table 4. Employers and ethnic minority recruitment (2000)

**Source:** (AC, 2000)

The regular labour market in Denmark is perhaps one of the most bureaucratised areas of laws, rules and directives on entitlement to unemployment benefits, compulsory job training and jobactivation,<sup>23</sup> membership requirements for unemployment insurance schemes, the rights of employees to take leave with compensation, for instance, during pregnancy or after a death in the near family, rights of the employers to hire and fire with minimal interference from the State or the union, and so on. However, on the other hand, it is also known as one of the most flexible labour markets in Europe. At least one PhD thesis in law (Justesens, 2000) has lately explored all these complex rules and regulations, to ascertain if they discriminate, directly or indirectly, against ethnic and cultural minorities, and thus proposes some concrete legal instruments to eliminate ethnic and cultural discrimination in the labour market to safeguard the equality principles with reference to human rights. Among other proposals, Justesen emphasised the necessity of a statistical database for the labour market based on the ethnic division of labour, in order to ascertain job-discrimination. She also proposed an independent complaints office to deal with allegations of direct and indirect discrimination against ethnic minorities in the labour market.

The following is an overview of some selected titles from the recent literature on the employment market: Ministry of Employment (1999); Ministry of Employment (2000a; 2000b);

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$  The job-activation refers to a range of activities (such as hedging and grass-mowing in public parks, attending courses on how to write a job-application and a CV) that every client in the working-age, receiving social-welfare, is forced to undertake by the social authorities of a municipality. The idea is that you the individual should not sit idle at home until he or she find a proper job.

Hummelgaard, H. et al. (2002); Mogensen & Mattiessen (2000); Pedersen (2002); Thomsen & Moes (2002); Sultan (2000).

There is a lack of any systematic study that explores discrimination against ethnic minorities during on-the-job situations, such as career advancement opportunities, pay and task differentials, behaviour of colleagues and managerial staff, and so on. However, one exception is a report prepared for the Association of Social Workers. Based on a questionnaire survey among employees, the report claims that social workers from a minority ethnic background experience ethnic-specific differential treatment in their on-the-job environment (Ghosh, 2000).

The employment situation of ethnic minorities has only received some concentrated attention from the research communities and the government in the past 7-8 years, even though their unemployment rate was high throughout the 1980s and 1990s. The belief that labour market participation is the key to integration is a driver for this focus.

#### 5. Housing

#### **5.1 Settlement patterns**

Tables 7, 8 and 9, in Part III of this report, detail the distribution of immigrants and their descendants with backgrounds from non-Western countries in the three large cities, where the largest part of the Muslim communities, or national groups, are residing today: Copenhagen, Aarhus and Odense.

The majority of the minorities from non-Western countries — of whom the largest share is composed of households with a Muslim background — live in the Copenhagen area. About 70 per cent live within the geography of Copenhagen County, of which one third live within the limits of Copenhagen Municipality.

The rest of the ethno-national groups of Muslims are scattered across the country in relatively small numbers in a range of small towns and cities, notably, Esbjerg, Vejle, Kolding, Frederikssund, Slagelse, Helsingøre and Randers.

After Copenhagen, Aarhus, Odense and Aalborg are, respectively, the next largest cities in Denmark. However, few people from non-Western countries, or from Muslim countries, like to stay in the relatively remote provincial city of Aalborg up in north Jutland. One reason could be the fact that the region has been hit by a long-term recession and thus offers limited job or business opportunities for the migrant population. Another factor might be its relatively conservative and provincial atmosphere, which offers little space for acceptance of cultural diversity. A survey from Aarhus University's Department of Psychology has also contended that negative attitudes towards minorities are much more pronounced in the remote provincial towns than in the ethnically mixed urban environments (Petersen *et al.*, 1999). However, there is no clue to be found in the existing literature on the housing and settlement preferences of migrants that could explain this phenomenon, except for this general view that new arrivals, as asylum-seekers, prefer to settle in areas that are already populated by migrant groups with the same cultural and ethnic backgrounds.

#### **5.2 Housing conditions**

According to the research group of the Ministry of Integration (2002), half of the migrant population from non-Western countries of origin live in the social housing built between 1966 and 1980, and these residential estates account for the largest share of neighbourhoods that can be defined as socially deprived — overrepresented by low-income households, long-term unemployed, single parents, alcoholics and immigrants (Ministry of the Interior, 2001).

Seen at the entire country level, the largest part of the residential quarters that are officially defined as socially deprived areas are also to be found in the Copenhagen region; they are inhabited by 3.6 per cent of the population overall, but by 25 per cent of the minorities. By contrast, one third of the total population resides in the country municipalities, while the minority share is only 7 per cent. In other words, two thirds of the minority population are concentrated in municipalities that have only a 10 per cent of the total population (Ministry of Integration, 2002).

Hummelgaard & Husted (2001) and the Association of Housing Societies (BL, 2001) have been reported to have registered that the concentration of socially marginalised groups of people, as well as immigrants, has only increased during the past decades.

Another statistical analysis, Graversen *et al.* (1997), has shown a general tendency that the probability of a minority family moving out from a certain residential area decreases with an increase of newcomers from the same ethnic group in the area, and the probability of native Danish households moving out rises as the number of immigrants in the area increases.

The housing situation of ethnic and Muslim minorities is not a well-explored field in Denmark, despite the fact that already in the late 1980s, a number of mayors from the industrial suburban municipalities of the south-eastern fringes of Copenhagen began to raise concerns about the creation of ghettos and what they called the "Khomenisation" of their residential quarters (Schierup, 1993). Pressured by these local politicians and by media campaigns, the then government, headed by the Social Democrats, appointed a national housing committee in the first half of the 1990s, which in 1994 came up with a number of proposals to lift up the socially deprived neighbourhoods, through various regeneration programmes. Although the declared aim was to make various neighbourhoods attractive for the resourceful native Danish families who were moving out of these stigmatised areas, an implicit objective was also to spread ethnic minorities more evenly in different localities. However, these objectives have not been achieved, due to a number of factors (Koch-Nielsen & Christensen, 2002).

Central to the failure of this policy is the socio-economic position of the minority ethnic communities and the low pace of upward social mobility. In fact, there was rather a trend of downward mobility for the minorities from non-Western countries during the recession of the 1980s, and the accompanying widespread unemployment among the unskilled labour.

The areas that were being dubbed "ethnic ghettos" in the mainstream media and political debates mainly comprised low-rent social housing, in which the poor segments of Danish households, living on welfare benefits, as well as the majority of the migrant groups, could afford to live. Nevertheless, in the media and anti-immigrant political campaigns, the Muslim culture — as epitomised in the aforementioned expression, "Khomenisation" — was held responsible for the alleged "ghettoisation". It was in the framework of such heated debates in the press that Boerrresen (2000) set out to write her seminal PhD thesis in sociology, for which she explored various aspects of the residential or housing patterns and preferences of the two large Muslim groups, the Turks and the Pakistanis. Boerresen (2002) argues that the housing choice of the minorities was not always a choice based on their own preferences, or culture for that matter, but was influenced by a range of socio-economic factors and socio-structural circumstances. According to Boerresen, discrimination in housing and jobs was one of the most conspicuous factors. Another was a desire for ontological security in a hostile environment, to be achieved by living in close social networks.

In the light of the literature reviewed, it is safe to conclude that the patterns of settlement of Muslims in various cities, city districts and neighbourhoods are determined by a number of factors, and not merely by the Muslim or immigrant culture *per se*. As Boeressen (*op. cit.*) has also demonstrated through her empirical research, a number of factors all play their role in the choice of residence, including a disadvantaged position in the labour and housing market, general discrimination, especially in the private market of rental, fear of being isolated from those with whom one feels secure and protected, and lack of knowledge about the housing market and lack of resources to move to better dwellings. In fact, for most Muslim households, the choice of residence seems not to be a choice, but rather, given their socio-economic position in society, is very often a compulsion under a combination of factors as outlined above, and

thereby a heavy reliance upon the low-rent social housing, very often in the socially deprived neighbourhoods of the urban and ethnically mixed areas.

Regarding the discrimination in housing experienced by ethnic minorities, as in other areas, a private research institute, Catinént, frequently conducts telephone interviews among the various ethno-national groups, predominantly Muslims. The research report released for the first half of the year 2004 revealed that 62.6 per cent of respondents did not experience discrimination, while 27 per cent answered in the affirmative (Integration Status, 2004). Compared to similar surveys for the previous four years, these figures show a decreasing tendency in housing discrimination, although it is still experienced by about one quarter of respondents. However, the similar report released for the first half of 2005 claims that it has increased slightly. The complaints about discrimination are mostly concerned with bypassing an applicant on the waiting list of a private housing society, on the grounds of the applicant's ethno-national background. But discrimination that addressed this particular question through field study is Hahnemann (1998).

Discrimination in the housing market has also been highlighted in ECRI's second Country Report on Denmark (2000). In the Danish version of the report it states the following:

About 54 per cent of the dwellings in the Danish housing market are privately owned [...] but only 13 per cent of the refugees and 18 per cent of immigrants in the age group 15–66, compared to 67 per cent of the rest of the population, own a private dwelling. Members of the ethnic minorities residing in Denmark in the meantime meet difficulties in renting a dwelling because of the market conditions, housing restrictions and indirect discrimination. The minority members can get access only to *public housing*<sup>24</sup> in less attractive residential quarters in the larger cities, which results in the fact that many first- and second-generation immigrants are clustered around in certain areas. (ECRI, 2000:19)

Møller & Togeby (1999) state that 9 per cent of Bosnians, 22 per cent of Lebanese and Palestinians, 22 per cent of Turks and 36 per cent of Somalis said that they have been discriminated against during contact with housing societies and cooperatives. The questionnaire-base survey does not elaborate further on the nature of discrimination.

Other relevant publications from the State organs<sup>25</sup> can be named; Andersen (2005); Regering (2004); Regering (2005). These reports deal with the issues of general developments in the public housing sector and concentration of ethnic minorities in the socially deprived areas, as well as the national government's strategies and goals aimed at reducing the number of unemployed migrants and Danes in the "ghettos".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The term *almennyttig bolig*, translated here as "public housing", refers to apartments owned by private companies, but the municipalities have a legal right to distribute a certain share of these at their own discretion, according to an assessment of needy citizens. Some larger municipalities also have their own apartments for needy citizens, which are called social housing, equivalent to council housing in the UK.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> For an overview of legal cases filed against housing discrimination in recent years, see National Focal Point Reports on Denmark at <u>www.eumc.int</u>

#### 6. Health and Social Protection

Health is another area of research concerning the Muslim minorities that has been underexplored for many years. But it is now receiving more attention from both the medical professions and the social sciences. Following the recent establishment of an interdisciplinary and independent Institute of Public Health at Copenhagen University, more funds and resources are being allocated to the field and, unlike the situation in the past, the research now being undertaken seems to be much more coordinated and systematic at the newly established institute. From 2006, the institute has also maintained an electronic database exclusively on "Health and the Ethnic Minorities" to update medical research and publications on the health situation of ethnic minorities.

As far as social protection is concerned, under Danish welfare legislation, all citizens and resident non-citizens are entitled to equal protection in case of illness and emergency situations. In other words, the universal provision of social security and health insurance applies to all who are residing legally in the country. This, however, does not imply that members of ethnic minorities do not face problems.

These problems can range from lack of adequate interpretation facilities at hospitals for those who are not well-versed in Danish, to sporadic racial taunts by nursing staff, adverse attitudes on the part of patients of a majority background towards medical personnel with minority ethnic backgrounds, differential treatment at the social security offices in the municipalities, and so on. However, no systematic research has been conducted to verify such allegations brought forward by the minority ethnic clients, patients or employees in the social and health sectors.<sup>26</sup>

A few social science studies concerning health from the 1980s were mainly of an anthropological nature, focusing on the traditional Muslim cultures and covering topics such as the traditional Muslim culture's encounter with modern Danish hospitals, superstitious belief systems about illness and health among Muslims, the use of amulets among immigrants against the "evil eye", the concepts of "hot" and "cold" food and beverages, believed to influence the body, and so on (see, for example, Elverdam (1991) and its bibliographical references).

Today, the focus has turned more to the real-life health problems prevalent among Muslim immigrants and their descendants, covering topics such as complications during birth and maternity, and frequently diagnosed diseases among the immigrant communities, such as diabetes, cardiovascular problems, risks due to diet and lifestyle, and so on. A good deal of medical research is already in progress at various medical faculties and research institutes across the country.

For an overview of this medical research and other related social scientific research, Schläger *et al.* (2005) is probably the most comprehensive and reliable source for an overview. It provides a schematic overview over all the scientific works, both published and unpublished, on ethnic minorities with backgrounds in non-Western, mostly Muslim, countries. The Danish National Institute for Public Health is currently developing a separate electronic database on the relevant literature on ethnic minorities, which at the moment is only available in Danish; see Hansen (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Such complaints have often been brought fourth in the meetings and seminars arranged by various migrant organisations, in the media articles by the minority spokespersons - as well as complaints registered by the Documentation and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination in the 1990s.

The study by Jeppesen & Nielsen (1998) indicated the positive effects of having female health visitors for mothers from minority communities These female health visitors, according to the study, are very often a window onto the surrounding society and its institutions for many migrant families; they are a resource for information about matters such as how to secure a place in a nursery or apply for a better dwelling after the extension of the family. Assessing the municipal health visitor programme, Nielsen (2002) has demonstrated furthermore that the health visitor arrangement has also been beneficial for ensuring the timely vaccinations of the minority babies and children, and has helped to reduce their levels of hospitalisation, which otherwise had been relatively higher than for the population overall.

Through an experimental exercise in the Norrebro district of Copenhagen, which has a high concentration of Muslim families (see section III.1), Flachs & Meldgård (1999) have illustrated that the contact between minority families and the health system can be positively enhanced with by sending a postcard of invitation to the families for their children's periodic checks-up and timely vaccination. Communication between the system and the minority patients — or rather the lack of it, due to language difficulties — is also a problem area that Nielsen (2002) has examined. She recommends provision of qualified interpreters by the municipal social services and hospitals, as this can reduce the levels of unnecessary hospitalisation of the minority patients.

Jeppesen (1994) found that the dental health of children from minority communities suffers setbacks due to food habits, over-consumption of sweets and irregular visits to the dentist. Tümer (1992) indicated that minorities were in need of orientation about genetics, as a relatively higher number of children with disabilities were being born among this group.

The frequency of psychological problems is reported to be high among the members of ethnic minorities. This is partly explained by the fact that a large section of the population had fled wars and torture. However, other studies indicate how language barriers and communication problems make it difficult to diagnose and treat the patients (Nielsen, 2002); (Skytte, 2002a); (Barfod & Leimand, 1996); (Barfod, 1997); (Barfod & Persson, 2000). Staunæs (1998) has explored the treatment methods and outcomes of drug-abusers among minority ethnic communities.

Skytte (2002a) explored the various aspects of traumas and tragedies faced by children and their parents from foreign (including Muslim) cultures, when the municipal social authorities take children away from troubled families and place them in the custody of a Danish family. She also explores the situation of the most vulnerable sections of the minority ethnic communities, such as the elderly in need of social protection and care (Skytte, 2002b).

In a quantitative survey among various ethno-national groups of immigrants, it was claimed that about 12–16 per cent of respondents from Bosnia, Turkey, Lebanon and Palestine had experienced hostile and adverse attitudes in the health systems (Møller & Togeby, 1999). The same survey also reveals that 14 per cent of Bosnians, 19 per cent of Turks, 24 per cent of Lebanese and Palestinians and 38 per cent of Somalis have had an experience of "racial" discrimination during encounters with the social services of their municipalities, the primary contact points for social protection. And thus, among all the institutional domains undertaken in the analysis, this was the highest percentage recorded for discrimination against the Muslim groups in the standard questionnaire-based enquiry by Møller & Togeby (1999).

#### 7. Policing and Security

In the survey by Møller & Togeby (1999) of minorities' own experience of discrimination, the police came second to trade unions as the institutions from which Muslims reported the lowest levels of discrimination. However, the picture changes when the border-control police are taken into consideration, with over one third of the Turkish immigrants in the survey sample reportedly experiencing discrimination.

Literature on police behaviour and the justice system is sparse and sporadic. As far as the police are concerned, there are only two research projects and one police training project in Denmark that can be drawn on to gain an overview over literature on policing concerning minorities.

There is no rigorous research in Denmark to provide an indication of the treatment of Muslims or ethnic minorities by the justice system. Some case studies about the performance of the courts and police prosecution, in cases in which the minorities themselves have been the victims of crime and racial discrimination, may help to gain an insight. For this purpose, the National Focal Point reports by DACoRD (available at <u>www.eumc.int</u>) are probably the best sources.

Between 1997–1999, an EU-funded project, "NGOs and the Police against Prejudice" (NAPAP) carried out research in nine EU Member States including Denmark. After the basic pilot research, based on face-to-face interviews with police representatives and the minority community representatives to ascertain the situation, a training module, named *Policing in a Multicultural Society*, was developed and delivered to around 200 police officers from the metropolitan police of Copenhagen. Most of the material produced during the training remains unpublished and thus available only manually at the archives of DACoRD, Copenhagen, the NGO that hosted and managed the Danish part of the NAPAP project.<sup>27</sup> The project was monitored by both a national evaluator and a transnational evaluator at the European level. Two evaluation documents are also available in the manual archives.<sup>28</sup> There have also been some papers that discuss the literature produced as a reflection over the experiences from the police training project mentioned (see: Tinor-Centi & Hussain (1999); Hussain (1998) Hussain & Monnier (2004a) and Hussain & Monnier (2004b)).

Some of the findings in the literature referred to suggest that a great many prejudiced views persist among working police officers. However, the views held by police officers about Muslims are not very different from those of the general Danish population or institutions. Notes taken during the training sessions suggested that prejudice against Muslim minorities by police officers was based on individual experiences of a few criminals, along with the media-mediated stereotypes about Muslims.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The documents available include the following: Mustafa Hussain and Jean-Marc Monnier (project coordinators), *The Progress Report on Training Courses in Denmark*, paper presented at the 5<sup>th</sup> trans-national workshop, Bologna, 2-6 June 1999; Eric Tinor-Centi, Mustafa Hussain and Jean-Marc Monnier, *State of the Art Report: Policing in a Multicultural Society*, submitted to NAPAP October, 1999; Documentation and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination, "Here in Denmark we eat with a knife and fork", proceedings from the closing seminar on NAPAP Police Training Project for the Copenhagen Police, 21 March, 2000, Copenhagen.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Dr Robin Oakley, Independent Consultant, *Trans-national Evaluator's Report on the Second Year of the NAPAP Project*, London, Autumn, 1999; and Dr John Wrench (national evaluator) and Lulu Hjarnø (Assistant), *Evaluation Report, Copenhagen Police Training Project*, submitted to NAPAP, Danish Centre for Migration and Ethnic Studies, South Jutland University, Esbjerg, April 2000.

The research also suggests that the tensions between the police and members of ethnic minorities, especially young people, are also a result of police profiling, leading to unwarranted stop-and-search practices, which occasionally resulted in some violent confrontations. Two academic research projects, one based on field observations by an anthropologist, Holmberg (1999), and an enquiry based on qualitative interviews with young people from ethnic minorities by Ansel-Henry & Jespersen (2003), testify to the insights gained from the NAPAPS's police training project for the Copenhagen Police. They show that an excessive focus through stereotype profiling of young people from ethnic minorities is itself a contributing source for the deviant behaviour among them. A Master's thesis presented at Roskilde University (Lassen & Tranekjær, 2003) critically assessed the very methodology implicit in the police training courses from a social-psychological perspective on stability and change in attitudes.

Over the past decade, there has been an overexposure of minority youth criminality in the mass media and in the dominant political discourse (Hussain *et al.*, 1997); Hjarnø (2000); Bay (1999); Rohleder (1997) and Crime Preventive Council (1998).

Kysgaard (1996; 2001) makes a critical assessment of the crime rate and seemingly unintended manipulation of the crime statistics regarding ethnic minorities (see also Hussain & Monnier, 2004a; 2004b).

The office of the Director of the Copenhagen Police frequently circulates internal instructions to all the police districts under its management and jurisdiction on how to behave and operate, in the true spirit of professional standards, among the ethnic minority communities, under the title "Police Director's Orientation for the Copenhagen Police in relation to the Ethnic Minorities". In practice, however, these guidelines are not adhered to or followed by police officers.<sup>29</sup>

Prejudice against the police among minorities, particularly among young people, is perhaps one of the reasons why, despite the efforts made by the police, few individuals from ethnic minorities have sought a career in the profession. As a consequence is no literature on interethnic relations within the police departments.

There is no specific literature on Muslims and the criminal justice system. However, archives at the Documentation and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination (DACoRD) provide a record on a range of individual court cases, as well as police prosecution processes, in the light of which it is concluded that the complaints of racial and ethnic discrimination filed by members of ethnic minority groups are not always taken seriously by the police authorities.<sup>30</sup> However, some outstanding examples on this subject are routinely reported by the DACoRD in the annual National Focal Point reports to the EUMC. These reports are also an informative source for ascertaining how the criminal justice system, as such, can indirectly have discriminatory consequences for Muslims and other members of ethnic minorities.

In June 2002, the Danish parliament passed a package of laws, called L35, to combat the growing threat of international terrorism. The law gives police authorities greater powers of surveillance, which can be used against Muslim groups or individuals. The law broadened the powers for, for example, telephone tapping and monitoring of emails, without a prior permission from a magistrate, and increased resources for the police to use secret informants in the Muslim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> It came to light, during the police training project for the Copenhagen Police, that not many officers were aware of the otherwise very sober and professional content of these so-called PD-Orientations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Personal communication with the Director of the Centre, Mr. Niels-Erik Hansen, 13 July 2006.

communities. The law also requires telecommunication companies and the providers of internetservices to keep record of all the communication flows on mobile telephones and internet traffic. It has yet to be seen how the newly enacted anti-terror legislation will impact on the members of Muslim communities in Denmark.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> There are at least three separate cases under the new legislation on terrorism in the police prosecution and investigation process at the moment in Denmark.

#### 8. Participation and Citizenship

In 1989, the Danish Parliament passed a bill that gave all immigrants the right to vote for the local elections for the city and regional councils of the municipalities and the counties, and to compete for these elections. The minimum requirement was, as it still is, a three-year legal stay in the country. However, for the election of the national Parliament, voters have to be Danish citizens. At the moment, there are three parliamentary members with a Muslim background sitting in the single-chamber national legislative body, the *Folketinget*, the one representing the Socialists, the other the Radicals and the third, Social Democrats.

In the debates on citizenship rights in social sciences, since the seminal work of the British scholar T. H. Marshall, Citizenship and Social Class, scholars have debated the various dimensions of these rights, from formal legal rights to cultural citizenship, that is, the recognition of cultural parity in the State institutions, or in other words, citizenship in a multicultural society, that is, the recognition by the State institutions that the society is *ipso facto* multi-ethnic and multicultural. Seen from the formal and legal perspectives, Muslim immigrants in Denmark enjoy all those universal rights on the dimensions of civic or social, political and economic citizenship that are considered vital for a vibrant democracy in a modern welfare state. There is no restriction on practising any faith or religion. Yet it is cultural citizenship that has been one of the core issues on the agenda, ever since the labour migrants of the 1960s began to organise themselves on political, national or cultural platforms in the mid-1970s (Hussain, 2002a; Mikkelsen, 2002; 2003). During these early stages, Danish NGOs, professional associations and intellectuals extended a helping hand to the labour migrants in the latter's initial struggles to organise themselves, and thus to exert their democratic right and voice in the local and national governments' decision-making processes. A thorough analysis, from a broader historical and transnational perspective, of these early ethno-national and cultural associations, and the emergence of mature transnational federations of immigrant organisations and movements, is undertaken by Mikkelsen (2006).

The participation of ethnic minorities in local and general elections is analysed by a number of social scientists, but most consistently, and from a broader perspective of participation in the democratic processes, by Togeby (2002; 2004). Hammer & Bruun (2000), Kehlet (2000), Hussain (2002a) and Mikkelsen (2002) have questioned whether the ethnic minorities in the current state of political affairs have any real influence on their own situation, partly because the current arrangements raise the question of a truly democratic representation, and it is claimed that these arrangements lead to co-opting by the State of those members from the minorities who cooperate with State policies at the expense of the genuine interests of the minority communities, and partly on the grounds that it is the ideologically biased media, not the minorities and decision-making on such issues. Hedetoft (2002) challenges this claim of "no influence", and insists that the representations of minorities do have their voices heard and are heeded in the democratic decision-making process.

A poorly explored area is also the performance of the institutions or forums at the national and at the local level, erected by the State, to include minority representations in the democratic decision-making processes, including integration councils at the municipality level and the Council of Ethnic Minorities at the national level. These are consultative bodies to the government, but lack both the human and the material resources to play their role efficiently. Hussain (2002a) and Græm (2003) take a critical stance towards such institutions' real impact, if

any, on policy-making on the grounds that unlike other consultative bodies to the government they lack both the expertise and a truly democratic representation of various minority groups and communities. But see also Togeby (2003) for alternative views and Mikkelsen (2006) for a general assessment of their structure and performance. The latter are of the view that despite their marginal influence on political decision-making, they nonetheless provide an opportunity for socialisation in democracy and political participation.

Looking at the rate of participation in the formalised arenas of the civic sphere among ethnonational groups with a Muslim majority, Schmidt & Jakobsen (2000) have calculated the percentage of the population of ethno-national groups who are members of one or another ethnic or national association or society. This reveals that 23 per cent of Turks, 13 per cent of Pakistanis and 24 per cent of Former-Yugoslavians were associated with civic activities, and men were relatively more active than women.

### **PART II: Policy Context**

#### 1. Perception of Muslims

It is a dismal fact that Denmark today is one of the most closed societies of the world. According to opinion polls, the Danes are extremely intolerant towards other religious communities, and the legislative and the administrative practice in a number of areas are on the brink of confrontation with human rights, laid down in the international conventions. (Carsten Fenger-Grøn, Kamal Qureshi and Tøger Seidenfaden2003)<sup>32</sup>

This section addresses the question of how Muslims are viewed both by the wider society, in political discourse and in the media, and also by integration policy.<sup>33</sup>

There are two dominant paradigms in Danish research on the perception of Muslims in the wider society. The first is dominated mainly by a school of political scientists, who rely mainly on statistical opinion-polling data, and analyses of these, through an array of pre-assumed causal variables, such as age, gender, education and party affiliation. According to this research, and seen through a historical trajectory, public perception and opinion about the visible minorities have, despite periodic fluctuations, remained constant and ambivalent. One of the most prominent proponents of this school of methodical conservatism is Professor Lise Togeby and her colleagues around two important research programmes in Denmark, the Power Enquiry (*Magtudredningen*) and the Academy of Migration Studies in Denmark (AMID)

One of the most debated publications about the perception of the ethnic minorities has been a survey by Gaasholdt & Togeby (1995). In the book, based on a through countrywide survey of the attitude of Danes towards ethnic minorities, the authors demonstrated that 37 per cent of Danes would not like a Muslim for a neighbour and 64 per cent would not want a close family member to marry a Muslim. Interestingly when the adjective "Muslim" was replaced by the generalised expression "a person from another race" in the battery of questions, the percentage of social distance expressed by the respondents declined. Now, only 18 per cent of Danes were reluctant to have neighbours "from another race" and 36 per cent would not like see a "person from another race" married into their nearest family (Gaasholdt & Togeby, 1995, p 37). See also, for instance, Hussain (2000b:95).

In the final report to the Danish Parliament on the Power Enquiry, Togeby reasserts her perspective and her conclusion that, in the long run, there has been no significant change in the attitudes towards the immigrants (Togeby *et al.* 2003). The Ministry of Integration (2002) in its Chapter 6 (contributed by the AMID), leaves a similar impression. Thus, Andersen and Tobiasen (2002), the Ministry of Integration (2000) conclude, for instance, that the intolerance towards Muslims is rather a reflection of this fact that Danes themselves are not religious and are overwhelmingly secularised, and therefore they harbour a general scepticism towards any religious practice in a secular society. This raises two interrelated questions: first, how the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The quote is taken from the introductory chapter to a recent anthology on the minority situation in Denmark, coedited by the editor of Aarhus University Publishers, the parliamentary member from the Socialist People's Party, and the editor-in-chief of a major liberal daily, *Politiken*, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> These two apparently different themes are being treated together, on the assumption that perception of Muslims cannot be separated from the dialectical relationship between the perception of and attitudes towards Muslims on the one hand and the integration policy being devised by the government on the other. The policy thus also reflects the popular perception of the Muslim immigrants. This section is substantiated further by the international criticism of and concern about the Danish policy and the public attitudes towards Muslims and ethnic minorities.

picture of the Muslim religious practice is diffused in the society and what the main source of that picture is, and second, what the Muslim practice is in that picture, which is produced by the dominant social and cultural institutions of Danish society, and whether that picture has some affinity with the real life and practice of the Muslims in Denmark, or whether it is an ideological construction of Muslim reality.

The epistemological controversy as to why these opinion-poll-based surveys alone are inadequate to measure and explain the shift in attitudes towards and perception of the ethnic "others" in Denmark is discussed briefly in Hussain (2004a).

The second school, whose epistemological approach to ascertaining ethnic and social reality adheres to the ideals of diversity in methods of investigation, holds mainly the opposite view of Danish popular perception of Muslims. According to this paradigm of interdisciplinary research methods, things have deteriorated since the late 1980s. Both the media discourse and the antiimmigrant rhetoric in the Parliament have become harsher towards Muslims. Studies that point to this change of direction in the perception, attitudes and institutional behaviour (such as legislation about migration and integration, representation and portrayal in the mainstream media, political rhetoric about Islam and Muslims, or their depiction in the popular culture, such as television fiction, film and drama) are undertaken mainly within a broader spectrum of social and human science disciplines, including anthropology, sociology, history, communication sciences, cultural studies and critical discourse analysis.

In comparison with other EU countries, much of the research on perception and attitudes in Denmark, seen and measured through discourse and communication about Muslims in the public sphere, remains at a rudimentary stage. Nonetheless, it can safely be concluded from existing studies, that the ways in which Muslims are talked about in the public sphere, the daily media and the press as an institution, and other channels of mass communication, such as the Internet, reduces the complexity of the cultural variations among Muslims and reproduces the existing stereotypes of them.

The non-scientific and anecdotal books that help in cementing such Muslim stereotypes are highlighted by the mass media, while genuine scientific literature is ridiculed and downplayed. Populist literature on Islam and the Muslim culture, on the other hand, especially if it has been authored by writers belonging to the ethnic minorities, such as Khadar (1996) or Rashid (2001), tend to be overexposed in the mass-mediated communication on Islam and the Muslim culture(s).<sup>34</sup>

There is ample evidence that ethnic relations have become much more strained today. Intolerance and right-wing extremism has increased, and public opinion has become qualitatively more critical towards Muslims, who, in the popular perception, are conceived as a culturally homogenous group of "foreigners" and a binary opposition of all that is Danish. These studies, involving a range of methodologies across the disciplinary boundaries — such as discourse analyses, narrative analyses, quantitative and qualitative content analyses, case studies and rhetoric — illustrate the fact that, in the reproduction of exclusionary discourse and practice,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See, for example, Hervik (2002), chapter 9, "Ethnic diffusion of religious insight: Rushy Rashid and Nasar Khadar", about the much-publicised authors of the two populist books on Islam and the Muslim culture(s). And on how the national television and the commercial press make use of those co-opted, and the overexposed mediacreated, ethnic experts on Islam and the Muslims from within the Muslim communities in legitimating the former's own anti-Muslim agenda, see also, for instance, Hussain (2003a).

and in the process of their institutionalisation, the dominant media play an important role (Hussain *et al*, 1997); (Hussain, 2000b; 2002b; 2003b); (Hervik *et al*, 1999); (Slot, 2001); (Hervik, 2003); (Madsen, 2000); (Andreassen, 2005).

Subtle forms of ethnic differentiation and discrimination have become more and more institutionalised, and normalised, in mass communication, in the debates in the public sphere, and also in the policy area under the broader rubric of integration through strategically devised restrictive legislation. This concerns, for example, restrictions on family reunification and naturalisation, a reduction in social security benefits for refugees, the abolition of the mandatory mother-tongue education for minority children, and so on.

To legitimise these restrictive policy instruments, the representatives of the government of Mr Fogh Rasmussen, a coalition of the Liberals and the Conservatives, adopted, from the very beginning of the general elections in 2001, an anti-immigrant and anti-Muslim rhetoric. However, the exclusionary discourse on Muslims predates the 9/11 tragedy and the ensuing international events that affected all Muslims across Europe and in the world at large.

Muslim minorities in Denmark have been constantly under pressure, from both the media and politicians from a wide spectrum of political ideologies, since late 1989, as noted by several observers.<sup>35</sup> The body of laws concerning citizenship and the human rights of the minority communities was already being tightened in the 1990s under the Social Democrat-led government of Paul Rasmussen (1994–2001). The following excerpts from his New Year's television address to the nation, at the turn of the Millennium 2000, exemplifies the discourse on (visible) minorities and the rhetoric on a value-divide between "us" and "the others", which continues to the present day in political speeches within and outside the Parliament: "It is really a problem if the Danes begin to feel strangers in their own neighbourhood". He also added that "everyone should adapt Danish values".<sup>36</sup>

The former Minister of Integration from his cabinet, Karen Jespersen, had earlier publicly expressed her fears about a multicultural society in the following manner: "I could never under any circumstances live with (the idea of) a multicultural society in which the cultures are positioned equally", and explains further which cultures she is referring to by adding that "in my opinion it is wrong to juxtapose Muslim values with Danish values".<sup>37</sup>

In Spring 2001, the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI, 2000) released its second periodic report on Denmark. The report presented its critical assessment of various domains, for example, the anti-discrimination laws and regulations, political discourse and media practice, the labour market, housing and education. The report contained a number of well-documented critical remarks about the Danish situation and recommended a range of measures to eliminate day-to-day, as well as institutionalised, discrimination against ethnic minorities. The report came up with its particular concern with the issues related to a general

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> It is on record that as far as the change in the media's attitudes towards the Muslim immigrants and refugees is concerned, some of the early criticism against this new form of journalism came from the media profession's own quarter, i.e. journalists, editors and managers of media organisations. Today, one of the few professional journalists who still keeps on reminding his colleagues about professional ethics is Eric Values, former Chief of Documentaries in the Danish Broadcasting Corporation's DR- Radio. For the reference to his latest criticism of the media practice around ethnic minorities and the Muslims, see Valuer (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> DR-TV, 0101.2000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The daily newspaper *Berlingske Tidende*, 6 September 2000.

climate of public opinion, as well as discrimination in access to public services, the labour market, housing and public places. Thus, in its executive summary, the ECRI report described the general situation of ethnic relations and public policy in the following words:

Problems of xenophobia and discrimination persist, however, and concern particularly non-EU citizens — notably immigrants, asylum-seekers and refugees — but also Danish nationals of foreign backgrounds. People perceived to be Muslims, and especially Somalis, appear to be particularly vulnerable to these phenomena. Most of the existing legal provisions aimed at combating racism and discrimination do not appear to provide effective protection against these phenomena. Of deep concern is the prevailing climate of opinion concerning individuals of foreign backgrounds and the impact and use of xenophobic propaganda in politics. Discrimination, particularly in the labour market, but also in other areas, such as the housing market and in access to public places, is also of particular concern.

It is interesting to note that both the dominant political establishment, including the Social Democrats, as well as the largest section of the press, downplayed the authenticity and validity of criticism in the report. The government ignored its recommendation to improve the situation, by declaring its results to be too old to pay any heed to. Ironically, though, both the current real policy and media practice have become ever more xenophobic, ruthlessly Islamophobic and neoracist (see, for example, Hervik & Jørgensen, 2002; Fenger-Grøn et al 2003; Hervik, 2003; ECRI, 2006; Larsen, 2006a; Larsen, 2006b).

Domestic observers and social science researchers have noted lately that Denmark, with its Muslim population of barely 170,000, has become one of the most staunchly anti-Muslim nations in the community of "civilised societies". See, for instance, Andersen *et al.* (2006). A veteran writer and intellectual, Klaus Rifberg, had already hinted in 2000, in his essay appearing in a journal published by the Nordic Council of Ministers, that "the shrieking of Nazi slogans has become normal practice in the Danish political megaphones".

Likewise, after some of the most obnoxious xenophobic propaganda during the general elections in November 2001, Denmark attracted a great deal of criticism from the office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), Amnesty International, the European Networks against Racism (ENAR) and the spokespersons of Social Democrats in Sweden, as well as the Liberals in both Norway and Sweden. Some international and national scientific journals have also carried substantial critical papers and essays on the increasing intolerance and neo-racism of this country. These include *Current Sociology, Ethnicities*, the Norwegian *Sosiolgi i Dag, Dansk Sociologi, Lov og Ret*, and *Sociale Kritik* (Hussain, 2003a; Larsen, 2006b).

Thus, a critical article based on the findings of a PhD dissertation by a Danish scholar in cultural geography claimed that there was widespread cultural racism in the country directed particularly towards the Muslim groups long before the 9/11 tragedy (Wren, 2001). In the aftermath of 9/11, the aforementioned European Monitoring Centre (EUMC) in Vienna released a provisional report on the plight of Muslim minorities in Europe. Once again, Denmark was at the top of the list amongst countries where a sudden increase in racial attacks on, and abuse of, the coloured minorities, and incidences of arson to their property were outstanding.<sup>38</sup> The newly elected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> For details and comparison among the 15 EU- countries, see: EUMC, *Islamophobia in the EU after September1*, EUMC, May 2002, available at

http://eumc.europa.eu/eumc/index.php?fuseaction=content.dsp\_cat\_content&catid=3fb38ad3e22bb&contentid=3fb4 f8d82d72a (accessed 7 May 2007).

government never even bothered to comment on the report. Likewise, it was mitigated or simply ignored by several media.

By Spring 2002, the United Nations Standing Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), went through the 15<sup>th</sup> Country Report on Denmark, to ascertain progress in the introduction of the International Convention on Racial Discrimination into Danish legislation. The CERD, in its conclusion, expressed great concern over increasingly racialised expression in Denmark and referred to the Durban Declaration from the World Conference on Racism in South Africa in 2001. It expressed concerns that,

policies and practices such as the housing dispersal policy, the quota system for the admission of minority children to certain crèches and nurseries, and the reported prohibition of the use of the mother tongue in some of these establishments may, although aimed at facilitating integration, lead to indirect discrimination against minorities and refugees.

This criticism of Danish policy was also ignored by the Danish mass media.

Finally, a brief quote from the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, from its report (A/57/38: Part II) of autumn 2002,

The Committee regrets the introduction in new legislation of an increase in the age limit for spousal reunification from 18 to 24 years of age in order to combat forced marriage. The Committee urges the State Party to consider revoking the increase in the age limit for family reunification with spouses and to explore other ways of combating forced marriages.

These laws and policies, introduced by the present coalition government of the Liberals and the Conservatives with backing from the populist Danish People's Party, since the 2001 elections, have left a negative impact on rights to citizenship and human rights of the minorities. On these legislative restrictions, see for example, Hansen (2003), Justesen (2004), Ejrnæs (2001) and the annual Focal Point Reports to the EUMC (*op. cit.*) and the latest report on Denmark by CERD (2006).

Quite recently, a doctoral thesis defended at the Dept. of Communications, University of California, San Diego, provides a somewhat detailed picture of the communicative mechanisms behind the shift of Danish discourse to the far right in Denmark. The defendant illustrates that the playing of the "Muslim card" in political discourse on immigration issues has been the causal factor behind this dramatic shift (Yilmaz, 2006).

Another comprehensive source, however, on the recent development in perception of Muslims and immigrants from non-Western countries, seen through the political discourse and rhetoric of the present government, is provided by Stenum (2005). The main thrust of the current integration policy, as Stenum's analysis reveals, is to reduce the number of new entrants from non-Western countries by tightening the legislation in the laws covering political asylum and family reunification, and to force various measures of economic sanctions upon the unemployed members of ethnic minorities, for instance, the introduction of a ceiling on social security benefits, or the withholding of benefits in cases of absence from job activation programmes or the language courses that are enforced upon any recipient of social welfare benefits.

Some main characteristics of the new policy measures introduced since 2002 are outlined below:

The laws and rules on family reunification have been tightened to such an extent that today it is virtually impossible for the members of ethnic minorities from non-Western countries to be united with their spouses in Denmark, unless a range of conditions are fulfilled by the applicants. For example, both the applicant and the spouse must be at least 24 years of age to become eligible for the visa application for the spouse. The applicants should submit a bank-guarantee of ca. 50,000 Dkr (equivalent to 6,710) before the application can be accepted. They should also provide documentation of their monthly earnings, showing that they may considered sufficient for the living expenditure for the couple, along with documentation of a dwelling that is considered appropriate by the authorities. The applicants must also prove before the authorities that the marriage had taken place with the consent of the couple, without compulsion from the family or the parents, as a safeguard against forced marriages. To be united in Denmark, the couple should provide evidence to the authorities that their overall affiliation to Danish society is greater than it is to the country of emigration of the spouse. That is to say that more members of the couple's family already live in Denmark and the spouse for whom the visa is applied speaks and understands Danish.

In the case of naturalised citizens of the Danish State, they can be exempted from certain restrictions on bringing a spouse from abroad, for instance, the affiliation criteria, but only 28 years after the date of naturalisation. The restrictions apply also for the children of the naturalised citizens, who might even have been born, raised and schooled in Denmark. They must wait until they are 24 years of age before they are eligible to apply for a visa for their spouse.

The present government has also introduced tougher restrictions on acquisition of citizenship through naturalisation since 2002. The gist of the present government's integration policy is to restrict further immigration from non-Western countries and in the meantime to reduce unemployment among the ethnic minorities through compulsory job activation programmes. As far as the former is concerned, the government has achieved much success, but the overall anti-Muslim rhetoric and consensus in the country, and the ubiquitous terror-threat and Islamophobia, seem to present significant hurdles in the way of achieving the latter objective.

As far as meeting the needs of Muslims or adopting measures against the discrimination is concerned, the government has shown reluctance in acknowledging that discrimination is a social and institutional phenomenon. This is quite obvious from the way in which both the domestic and the international criticism, such as that from ECRI, CERD and UNHCR, has been resisted and even ridiculed by the governmental representatives. For instance, commenting on the latest report from ECRI (2006) the Prime Minister called it botched up job not be paid any attention to.<sup>39</sup> On the other hand, the Police Intelligence Bureau, *Politiets Efterretningstjeneste* (PET), in its latest annual report (PET, 2006) has acknowledged that racially motivated violence has been on the rise, but it does not appear adequately in the crime statistics because the victims of the racially motivated violence do not believe that it helps to report to the local police stations. The PET has thus decided to start a campaign among the minority ethnic communities to convince them to report such violence and discrimination to the police. On the positive side, one must add here that the Muslims for the first time, in the month of September 2006, have been able to establish their own cemetery after many years of struggle.<sup>40</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> The Prime Minister's remarks were reported in several news-media in May 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Though it is noteworthy, that it has been vandalised twice since it inception by anti-Muslim elements.

The only official organ (established under the pressure from the EU) to hear complaints against ethnic discrimination is the Complaint Committee at the Institute of Human Rights, but it has a very limited judicial mandate.<sup>41</sup> The Government is in the process of planning to abolish this committee to replace it with a new Board of Complaints under the Ministry of Social Affairs, which will be mandated to hear complaints against not only the ethnic discrimination, but would also address discrimination against women, homosexuals, people with disabilities and the elderly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> For details, see <u>www.humanrights.dk</u>.

#### 2. Administrative structures

The Danish State administration and democracy has traditionally been built on the principles of decentralised local governance, with maximum autonomy for the municipal and regional bodies. The country is divided into 14 counties and 275 municipalities.<sup>42</sup>

Prior to 1999, the laws under which the various aspects of immigration and the migrant situation in the country were regulated fell under the jurisdiction of different ministries, such as the Ministry of the Interior, the Ministry of Housing, the Ministry of Education and the Ministry of Justice. In 1999, under the new structure of the central government, the Ministry of the Interior was handed the task of overall integration of ethnic minorities and the first ever package of laws on integration (*Integrationloven af 1999*) was passed in the Parliament. This body of laws has since been exposed to various restrictive amendments, in areas such as the right to political asylum, family reunification, naturalisation, and mother-tongue education for the minority children in the state-run schools.

After the change of government in November 2001, one of the first dramatic changes that the present government introduced through a bill in the Parliament was to abolish, among several other advisory bodies financed by the State, the Board for Ethnic Equality. A great many of the migrant organisations used to get annual subsidies from the State for their activities to improve the situation of ethnic minorities, but all these funds were frozen as early as January 2002. Some other Danish NGOs, which used to receive State help for the improvement of integration conditions and qualifications of minorities, were also taken off the budgets of the totally new Ministry of Integration, separated from the Ministry of the Interior. After weakening of the civil society organisations, the government presented its revised bill on integration law, coming into force in July 2002.

These drastic changes and the national and international reaction to it have been described in the previous section. Perhaps the most dramatic change was the introduction of the 24-year rule and other demands connected to a residence visa for the spouse, which were strategically targeted to the goal of reducing immigration from Muslim and non-Western countries.

The following points describe briefly the administrative structure of the State, along with an outline of the new integration policy and the philosophy behind it, which according to the government will enhance the integration:

- *Reduction in new immigration from non-Western countries:* the administration of the laws emerging from the new policy rests with the central immigration authorities, under the Ministry of Integration.
- *Reduction in the number of unemployed migrants, living on social welfare benefits*: the policy is executed through new legislation, in the employment market and social sector, by putting a ceiling on the maximum amount to which an unemployed family can be entitled. This is administrated by the local governments, the municipalities.
- *Start-help package for refugees:* this is far less in amount than social security benefits or unemployment benefits, which are set in accordance with the minimum living expenditure for each person. It has a two-pronged aim: to keep the so-called economic refugees away

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> This structure, however, is undergoing a reform process to be put in effect from the next year. It will reduce the number of municipalities by submerging smaller municipalities. Also the structure of counties will be transformed into regional councils, lesser in number but covering more area.

from Denmark, and to push those who are already granted asylum to the low-paid service jobs in the secondary labour market, and away from social welfare benefits. Only after a period of 7 years is a person with refugee status eligible for the ordinary social welfare benefits. The municipalities in which the refugees are placed by the immigration authorities take care of their integration through language teaching and job consultancies and training courses.

- Strict administration of job activation courses and language and culture classes for the *unemployed immigrants:* otherwise no social welfare benefits could be paid to the absentees. The regional labour exchanges and the municipalities are responsible for this labour market integration in cooperation with private enterprises.
- *Danish language learning*: a push for Danish language learning from the start for the children and no more subsidies for mother-tongue education in the state-run schools that are administrated by the municipalities. The assumption is that the sooner they learn Danish the better they will be integrated in schools and society.
- *Integration:* establishment of an integration team of experts at the Ministry of Integration to help the local government's institutions to implement the policy. In addition, the funds that were previously channelled to the civil society organisations for the integration projects are now solely controlled centrally by the Ministry. This has resulted in the fact that only those integration projects and research that are in harmony with the government's ideology and vision about integration are supported. The free research in the best academic and scientific traditions that was carried out by the Board of Ethnic Equality at its own discretion has almost vanished from the scene.

The overall trend is towards a neo-liberal workfare regime – shifting away from passive reliance on welfare incomes. This has entailed a great many economic difficulties for many families, especially those Muslims who have fled wars and torture and in several cases are suffering from a range of psychological disabilities and thus unable to work and learn new skills demanded by the labour market. And it equally applies to many middle-aged women and men from the cohort of those who were previously called guest-workers, who are suffering fatigue and health problems such as diabetes and heart trouble. At present, the Ministry of Integration is running a campaign focused on medical doctors to observe restraint in the issuing of medical certificates to migrant women. To avoid indiscriminate compulsion from the municipal authorities and the labour exchanges, many have chosen to stay away from getting themselves registered as unemployed, and thus do not draw any social welfare or unemployment benefits.

Cutting down the allowances for the refugees has meant that instead of being socially and culturally integrated into the society, which the government emphasises that they should become as soon as possible, they have become more isolated from the surrounding society, as they and their children do not have the means to afford to take part in social and cultural or sports activities, or to buy a birthday gift, for example, for their children's playmate in the vicinity of their neighbourhood (see Ejrnæs, 2001, and Nielsen, 2004).

In the present structure of the State, the overall integration policy is devised by the government, and since it has an absolute majority in the Parliament, it has succeeded in getting some of the toughest bills through. In the last analyses these impinge upon the quality of life of the ethnic minorities from non-Western countries, and the vast majority of them are Muslim immigrants.

Much of this policy concerning the labour market, housing, public schools and adult learning of Danish, maternity and primary childcare, care centres for the elderly, and so on, is the

responsibility of the local government. At the regional level, there are 14 counties that basically are responsible for the secondary health sector, such as the running of hospitals, and the maintenance of some roads, and higher secondary educational institutions or colleges.

However, the relative autonomy of the local government does not seem always to function, when it comes to implementing the ideology and policy on integration of the central government. One example that is ongoing at the time of writing, concerns the headmistress of a public school in the inner city of Copenhagen, who decided to divide the classes of its pupils into two groups; one for the indigenous Danish children and the other for all the "bilingual pupils", that is, the children of Somali, Turkish, Arab and Pakistani parents. The headmistress took her decision when faced with the threat by the Danish parents to take their children out of the school if the demand for ethnic segregation of classes was not met by the school. However, the municipal authorities of Copenhagen intervened in the matter and warned the headmistress that such a step would be in contravention of the existing anti-discrimination laws and regulations. The headmistress announced that she would take back her decision, declaring that she would negotiate with the Danish parents about the legality of such a step. However, then the Minister of Education, Bertel Haarder, intervened in the matter, supporting the idea of separate classes and promised a revision of the law and regulation, so that they do not stand in the way for going ahead with plans of segregated classes. The municipal authorities find themselves helpless in the situation, (the daily newspaper, *Politiken*, 9 June 2006).<sup>43</sup>

As far as law and order and policing are concerned, it is the task of various police districts, headed by a police commissioner, and a district may have more than one municipality in its area of operation. The police commissioner of each district is responsible to the Head of State Police under the Ministry of Justice. Unlike the situation in many other EU countries, in Denmark there is only one police force for maintaining law and order and for the security and safety of citizens in their respective administrative districts. There are no accountability structures at the city or municipality level in which the concerned citizens can be involved in policing practice or policy. Only the capital area of Copenhagen has its own Director, presently Ms Hanne Bech Hansen, and thus the various sub-districts are under her administration.

The Police Intelligence Bureau (PET), works under the scrutiny of a parliamentary committee, but administratively under the Ministry of Justice. Despite the fact that the Muslim communities are exposed to more surveillance after the terrorism threats and anti-terror legislation, the PET's image, in contrast to that of the ordinary police, among Muslims seems to be excellent and full of trust, according to the representatives of different immigrant organisations. The PET also holds frequent meeting with representatives of the Muslim communities and prayer leaders or imams, to reduce the potential threat of terrorist activities among the ranks of disillusioned Muslims, especially the youth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> It should be noted that each public school has its own elected board of parents whose voice is listened to by the school's management, but not many Muslim parents are represented in such advisory bodies, neither at the schools, nor at the municipal level.

## PART III: CITY SELECTION

### 1. Selection criteria

The majority of Muslim households are to be found in low-rent public housing, in the urban areas of the three largest cities: Aarhus, Copenhagen and Odense (see also section I.5 on housing).

For more than a decade, some of the residential areas in these cities have been portrayed on the political agenda and in media stories as "ethnic ghettos", with all possible associated negative connotations. The negative attributes that are usually associated with these neighbourhoods include a high rate of unemployment and greater reliance on the social welfare benefits as a source of income, a lack of social integration with the surrounding society, a high rate of youth crime and violence, religious fundamentalism, thefts and burglaries, a high rate of school dropouts, the parallel society, low motivation among the residents to find a job, and domestic violence and oppression of women.

The mainstream media and television have been reporting about these "ethnic ghettos" since the end of 1980s, when Per Madsen, the former mayor of Ishøj Municipality (on the outskirts of Copenhagen), launched his campaigns and claimed that his municipality was being run down by a "Khomenisation" of the residential areas. He claimed that the Muslims were a difficult group to integrate in his municipality and society at large, because they stuck to those old traditions that they had brought in suitcases from their homeland (Shierup, 1993).

Since the 1990s, however, the focus has shifted to some other municipalities and residential quarters. Three such neighbourhoods — which are at the top of the list of areas that have earned the name of ethnic ghettos, problem areas, socially deprived neighbourhoods, and so on, by the media, politicians, municipal and social authorities, schools and police authorities — are the following:

- Vollsmose (in Odense municipality);
- Gellerupparken (in Aarhus municipality)
- Møljnerparken (in the Norrebro sub-district of Copenhagen Municipality).

These three areas would all be interesting to include in the new OSI monitoring project "Muslims in the EU: Cities Reports". A fourth neighbourhood that may be of interest to include in the OSI project is **Tåstrupgård** (Høje Taastrup Municipality) on the outskirts of Copenhagen. This neighbourhood has earned the name of a ghetto area because of a high concentration of immigrants of jobless ethnic minority communities. In contrast to the three other localities, which are characterised by the presence of many refugees from the Middle East and other Muslim countries, who came to Denmark from the mid-1980s onwards, Tåstrupgård is inhabited mainly by many "guest-workers" and their descendants from the late 1960s, especially Turks.

The OSI monitoring project "Muslims in the EU: Cities Reports" could focus on all or any one of these four sites. Although the population of these four selected areas is multi-ethnic, representing ethno-national groups from several Muslim and non-Muslim countries, in the popular discourse they are usually implicitly, and sometimes also explicitly, referred to as "the Muslim areas".

These four residential areas have been on the agenda of a number of NGO integration projects, and on the desks of researchers and experts of urban planning, and have attracted a good deal of attention on the part of the students and scholars of social sciences. All four selected areas are subject to the policy adopted by the elected local bodies (councils) of their respective municipalities (i.e. Copenhagen, Odense, Aarhus and Høj Taastrup). These are elected by the citizens every fourth year. Almost all of these have some elected council members with a Muslim background, affiliated to different political parties.

Compared to the country as a whole, the proportion of children or young people is much higher in these areas. This has a range of implications for how the integration of Muslim pupils and young people is addressed, for instance in schools, sports facilities by the various municipal policies in these areas.

Table 5 below provides an overview of the share of indigenous Danish and non-Danish population in these four residential quarters,

# Table 5. Number of Danes and of people with origins from non-Western and Western countries, in the four selected residential areas (2005)

Residential	City/	Immigrants	Descendant	Danes	Total
areas	Municipality		S		
Gellerupparken	Aarhus	2,875	2,260	911	6,046
Mølnerparken	Copenhagen	1,059	979	154	2,192
Tåstrupgård	Høj Taastrup	1,033	750	698	2,481
Vollsmose	Odense	4,008	2,388	3.297	9,693

Source: Ministry of Integration, Yearbook on Foreigners (2005)

Looking at the socio-economic profile of the residents of these areas, it becomes clear that the largest number of people residing in these areas is dependent on social security benefits, as the vast majority of those in the economically active age group (18–64) are unemployed (see Table 9 below). In all four selected areas, the unemployment rate among the ethnic minorities with a Muslim background is significantly higher than the average unemployment rate among the minorities at the country level, which was recorded 15 per cent of the total migrant population of the country (as of 1 January 2004).

Type of income	Proportion of people with origins from non-Western countries, who access WTIs (%)				Proportion of Danes on
	Mjølnerparken	Tåstrupgård	Vollsmose	Gellerup.	WTIs in the areas (%)
Nil WTI <sup>44</sup>	24	33	18	19	33
Pensions <sup>45</sup>	6	13	12	12	11
Daily allowance 46	9	25	12	11	17
S.S. Benefits <sup>47</sup>	34	17	35	43	16
Job activation allowance <sup>48</sup>	24	10	29	13	9
Disable/Edu <sup>49</sup>	2	1	2	2	2

# Table 6. Number of Danes and of people with origins from non-Western countries, on welfare benefits (Welfare Transfer Incomes, WTIs) in selected residential areas.

Source: Ministry of Integration, Yearbook on Foreigners (2005)

These four sites can also be used to explore how integration policy at the national level is executed in practice in the various municipalities. This could be monitored not only through the employment market initiatives, but also the facilities and arrangements in various municipal institutions, which either pay respect to the cultural diversity or execute a rigid nationalist and mono-cultural policy.

Perhaps the most absurd example of such an attitude among the municipal authorities and the previous Ministry of the Interior and Integration Affairs during the 1990s was the fact that they funded a project for Muslim parents, carried out in Gellerrupparken, on how to bring up their children in Denmark according to Danish norms, with the aim of reducing juvenile delinquency.

A much more serious example occurred in 2001 when five young people from one of these areas were convicted of the gang-rape of a young Danish girl. This crime led to a media debate that lasted several months in the press and national television channels. The gang-rape was attributed to lack of respect for women in the Muslim culture. The focus was not on individual responsibility, instead the entire Muslim culture, was held responsible for the crime. During the general election, November 2001, in its pre-election campaign, the Liberal Party used a picture of these five boys coming out of the court on its electoral banners, with a portrait of the present Prime Minister, Anders Fogh Rasmussen, above it, conveying the message "Time for a Change!" In the same area, and quite recently, a whole family has been given notice of eviction from their rented apartment by the housing cooperative, simply because one boy from the family had taken part in some mugging activities.

Other reasons for the selection of the four proposed sites are that there are numerous projects in progress on cultural, social and employment market integration in these areas, and some reports

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Nil WTI: people not on social welfare benefits, who earn their own living through jobs or business.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Pensions: for the retired or early-retired senior citizens.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Daily allowance: payment to patients unfit for work, job activation or course.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> S.S. Benefits: social security benefits. Like the "dole" in English, to which anyone with no means of subsistence is entitled until sent for job activation, or courses, pensions, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Job Activation allowance: equivalent to social security benefits, which an unemployed person receives when sent to some courses or training by the municipal authorities. Social security benefits and job-activation allowance is actually the same thing, but classified differently for administrative purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Disable/Edu: allowance for the disabled or people with minor handicaps for their rehabilitation.

have already been prepared on topics, ranging from ethnic crime to job training and finding new ways to keep the youth off the street. These sources and resources, even if some of them tend to be of a dubious quality, or based on stereotypical images of Muslims and Arabs, can be gainfully brought into the OSI monitoring project.

In addition, these areas are also under the focus of urban regeneration programmes, on which many social researchers, architects, urban planners, sociologists on poverty and marginalisation, and many other experts are engaged. One large scale multi-faceted project (which has the working title SLIB —"Segregation, Local Integration and Employment"), which includes all four proposed areas, is being carried out at the Roskilde University's Department of Social Science and Business Economics, in cooperation with National Building Research Institute (SBI). This could be advantageous for the network relations required for the case studies, for approaching the Muslim population for data gathering, and not least for developing a common methodology for the monitoring process and comparative analysis of the integration situation, policy and the social reality of the day-to-day life of Muslims across European cities.

The following sections outline some of the more important features of these neighbourhoods, and suggest why precisely these locations could be appropriate sites for inclusion in the OSI project.

### 2. Copenhagen

Copenhagen County is home to the majority (about 70 per cent) of the minorities from non-Western countries in Denmark, of which one third live within the limits of Copenhagen Municipality. The largest share of the minorities from non-Western countries is composed of households with a Muslim background. Copenhagen Municipality has a population of just over 503,000. The number of migrants with origins in predominantly Muslim countries in Copenhagen Municipality is as shown below:

Country	Copenhagen Municipality		
Turkey	8,205		
Pakistan	8,739		
Former Yugoslavia	7,918		
Iraq	4,762		
Somalia	3,7.66		
Total from all non-Western	63,279		
countries	(12.6% of the city		
	population)		

Table 5. Number of migrants with origins in predominantly Muslim countriesin Copenhagen Municipality (Jan 2003)

Source: Website of Aarhus Municipality, www.Aarhus.dk

Copenhagen Municipality is divided into 15 City Districts. The City Government consist of a finance committee and six standing committees, each with its own area of responsibility. The city's supreme political authority is the City Council. It consists of 55 members, each elected for a four year period. At least 7 elected members of the present City Council have a minority background and 6 of these carry a Muslim name. None of them, however, holds an executive position (such as a mayor or head of a committee).

#### Norrebro

The Nørrebro sub-district consists of two of the 15 City Districts in Copenhagen Municipality: Indre ("Inner") Nørrebro and Ydre ("Outer") Nørrebro.

Ydre Norrebro sub-district has a population of 41,000, of which 11,000 (27 percent) are immigrants and their descendants — 7,600 of these have a foreign nationality, the remainder are Danish citizens. The Norrebro sub-district has (like Vollsmose in Odense) been on the media's news agenda for more than a decade now. There are several Muslim prayer- houses in Norrebro, run by various Muslim groups divided on the ethno-national and sectarian lines. The first ever public protest against the publication of the Prophet's cartoons in Denmark's largest newspaper, *JyllandsPosten*, took place also in Norrebro.

Within Ydre Norrebro the neighbourhood of Mjølnerparken, has the population with the highest percentage of immigrants and their descendants. The name refers to a set of housing blocks built in 1987, situated on the outer fringes of Norrebro. This housing complex consists of 559 apartments of various sizes inhabited by a total of 2,500 residents. In Mjølnerparken, 93 per cent of the people living there have a minority background; the rest are indigenous Danes, mostly elderly people. Most people living in the area have origins in Lebanon and Palestine (37 per cent), and there is also a high proportion of people with origins in Turkey and Pakistan and about half of the minority population is under the age of 18. At average, in Mølnerparken only a few have a duration of stay under 5 years or more than 15 years.

The Muslims here are predominantly refugees of the mid-1980s, who had fled various wars. A large number of these refugees are Palestinians from southern Lebanon's refugee camps, who had been exposed to violence and war, even massacres, during the 1982 invasion by Israel. Interestingly, neither the media nor the hundreds of projects that have been carried out in these areas in the name of integration have looked thoroughly at this aspect of mental health or psychological traumas to explain the high crime rate among the youth in this area. The media especially have solely concentrated upon their Muslim and Arabic culture as an explanation for the phenomenon.<sup>50</sup> Some medical research has drawn attention to it; for example, a report by the Rehabilitation Centre for Torture Victims, Copenhagen, states that a third of these households have at least one member of the family who suffers from a psychological disorder, mainly posttraumatic syndromes. These families face difficulties in playing their parental role in a normal way. However, both the mainstream media and the politicians who merely react to the media stories on the so-called ethnic crime in these problem neighbourhoods have a tendency to downplay such facts and overemphasise the "Muslim culture" as a causal factor for all types of oddities.<sup>51</sup> After an outbreak of repeated cases of arson in the housing complex towards the end of 2004, the whole residential quarters is now installed with 230 close-circuit cameras and remains under a constant surveillance and frequent police patrolling.

#### 3. Aarhus

Aarhus is the second largest city in Denmark. Aarhus Municipality has a total population of 294,273 (as of July 2006), of which migrants make up 37,062, or 12.6 per cent of the total population. Of these, 26,797, or 9.2 per cent of the total population, are from non-Western countries, as shown below:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> See, for example, Hussain *et al.* (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> This was also the overwhelming attitude among the police officers who attended the Police Training Project by NAPAP (see the Section 7. Policing and Security in Part 1) and who have had experience in fighting crime in these areas.

# Table 6. Number of migrants with origin in predominantly Muslim countries inAarhus Municipality (Jan 2003)

Country	Aarhus Municipality	
Lebanon	4,151	
Turkey	3,843	
Somalia	3,139	
Iran	2,152	
Total from all non-Western	26,797	
countries	(9.2% of the city population)	
Comment With the set of the Manual in stitute and the states of the		

Source: Website of Aarhus Municipality, <u>www.Aarhus.dk</u>

The City Council comprises of 32 elected members and at least 7 of these can be said to have a Muslim background, mostly with Turkish background.

The city of Aarhus has a range of prayer houses of Muslims belonging to various congregations. Under the umbrella of the Federation of Mosques and Islamic Cultural Centres (<u>www.moskeen.dk</u>), are putting forward plans for a purpose built mosque in the Gellerupparken (see below). However, this proposal is facing a great deal of resistance from various political groups of native Danes, as well as from some members of the City Council.

#### Gellerupparken.

In Aarhus the largest concentration of immigrants and their descendants is to be found in **Gellerupparken**. Gellerup is a western suburb of Aarhus city. Gellerupparken itself is a large housing estate. The total population of the sub-district, Brabrand-Gellerup, where Gellerupparken is located has been recorded at 19,357 in July 2006, of whom 8.200 (or roughly 46 per cent) have origins in a non-Western country.

In Gellerupparken, immigrants and their descendants make up 85 per cent of the total residential population (January 2004). The majority are from Lebanon (46 per cent), followed by Turkey. The largest share of immigrants in Gellerupparken has a duration of stay of between 10 and 15 years in Denmark, on average. The unemployment rate here is 22 per cent for men and 30 per cent for women.

Gellerupparken has earned a name of ghetto in the media and political discourse, because of its high concentration of Muslims. High rates of chronic unemployment and youth criminality have been characteristic of the area for many years, and there is widespread tendency among the native Danes to move out of Gellerupparken as soon as they get the chance. Almost all the apartments in these multi-stories blocks are low-rent housing owned by private housing associations. To reduce the chronic unemployment, the municipality of Aarhus has constructed a special shopping hall, called Bazar, where the residents of the area can open their own shops, restaurants, grills and grocery stores. This attracts many tourists and other residents of the city to get en "exotic" experience. However, the area has also witnessed a rare case of an expulsion of a whole family from their apartment, because one young person of the family had been repeatedly convicted of burglary and muggings.

#### 4. Odense

Odense is located in the south of Denmark and is famous for being home of the author of fairytales, H.C. Andersen. It is the third largest city in Denmark, with a total population of

186,595 (as of July 2006). The migrants residing in the city have representing 150 different nationalities. Those from non-Western countries make up 10.66 per cent of the city population, as shown below:

Country	Odense Municipality		
Turkey	2,292		
Lebanon & Palestine	2,211		
Somalia	1,670		
Iraq	1,258		
Bosnia & Herzegovina	1,184		
Total from all non-Western	19,650		
countries	(10.66% of the city population)		

# Table 7. Number of migrants with origin in predominantly Muslim countries inOdense Municipality (Jan 2003)

Source: Website of Aarhus Municipality, <u>www.Aarhus.dk</u>

The city has 29 members on the City Council, including two with an ethnic minority background (one of these has a typically Muslim name).

#### Vollsmose

In **Vollsmose** residential area, 66 per cent of the population (total 10,000) are from minority ethnic groups, the majority of them being from Turkey and Lebanon, followed by Somalis. In the residential blocks of Vollsmose, the largest share of the immigrants and their descendants fall into the group whose average stay in the country is less than 5 years. Vollsmose has the highest unemployment rate among all the four areas under consideration for inclusion in the OSI monitoring project (see section III.1). Here, 37 per cent of men and 46 per cent of women were unemployed in 2004. However, under the current upswing of the economy has lead to a high labour demand, which has resulted in a fall in the overall unemployment rate in the area, to 23 per cent (as of June 2006).

Vollsmose in Odense has been on the media's news agenda for more than a decade now. There have been recurrent reports of clashes between the police and migrant youth in the district. Although the phenomenon has subsided considerably during the last 3–4 years, after a number of projects were initiated to "tame" these young people by involving parent groups from ethnic minorities, the stigma still lingers on in the public memory.

In its efforts to integrate the residents of Vollsmose into the mainstream society, the municipality has established a specific office, Vollsmose Secretariat, which solely concentrates on the social issues, unemployment and integration problems of the residents of the area.

As in Gellerupparken in Aarhus, Odense Municipality is also establishing a Bazaar in the vicinities of the residential quarter that will have about 65 shops to be rented out to the members of ethnic minorities. This is due to be inaugurated by HRH Prince Joachim of Denmark in April 2007.

Vollsmose area once again hit the media headlines quite recently, as the police have arrested 4 young men from the area for conspiring to an act of terrorism. One of these has been released after the initial hearings, but the other three are waiting for the trial in courts under anti-terrorism

legislation. A mosque in the area has also been ransacked on similar suspicion, but no charges were levelled against the imam or other members of the mosque committee.

## 5. Høj Taastrup

Høj Taastrup is small town located at a distance of about a half hour drive south-east of Copenhagen. The town has a total of 45,519 residents, of which 7,671 (17 per cent) are from an ethnic minority background (defined by the municipal statistics as immigrants and their descendants). The City Council comprises 21 seats, of which 4 are held by counsellors having a Muslim background.

### Tåstrupgård

In the housing blocks of **Tåstrupgård**, 72 per cent of all the residents are from a non-Danish background. The majority of these are Turks (58 per cent), but there are also many Pakistanis and a mix of others with national origins in Muslim countries. In Tåstrupgård the population of a non-Danish background has lived in Denmark for more than 15 years. The unemployment rate in Tåstrupgård is different from that in other neighbourhoods, and can be explained by the fact that the vast majority of the residents in that area belong to the category of earlier arrivals of migrant workers and their descendants, and as such have had a longer duration of stay in the country and thus a better insight into Danish society and culture, better language skills and relatively well-established social networks. Nonetheless, a comparatively high level of unemployment is also conspicuous among those who are from a Muslim background; that is, the Turks. The literature reviewed, especially that produced by the governmental agencies, only barely recognises discrimination as a causal factor behind the lack of integration in the employment market.<sup>52</sup>

Compared to the three other selected residential areas, the profile of Muslims is somewhat different in composition in Tåstrupgård. They are not refugees from war-torn areas, who suffered a traumatic experience, but are mainly Turks and Pakistanis who came as 'guest-workers' in the late 1960's. This district could therefore be included in the OSI monitoring as a "control" variable in assessing the overall integration of Muslims in Danish cities. Another good reason for this selection is the fact that, while all the three other areas have been in the limelight of the Danish press for many years as "ethnic ghettos" and breeding grounds for criminality, juvenile delinquency and violence attributed to Muslim culture or Arabic identity, Tåstrupgård has more or less escaped such predicates and prejudiced stereotypes.

The Tåstrup municipality was at the centre of a media storm some years ago, as it was perhaps the first municipality that allowed for the hanging of curtains in the schools' swimming facilities so that the Muslim pupils could take part in the compulsory swimming training. This was debated in the press as a sign of an erosion of Danish cultural values under Muslim pressure. On the other hand, there are also cases of ethnic discrimination in the allotment of apartments from the same municipality some 8 years ago.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> In its latest report, from 2006, the Ministry of Integration's think tank has, unlike in all its previous reports, for the first time emphasised discrimination in the employment market. In the past, the explanations have been always sought in terms of deficiencies among the minorities. It should be acknowledged in this regard that the present Minister for Integration has taken notice of this and has announced a sum of 20 million Dkr. for campaigns against prejudice among the employers who hesitate to employ ethnic/Muslim minorities.

## Annex 1. Bibliography

## In English

Andersen, J., E. Larsen and I. H. Moeller (2006). *Exclusion and Marginalisation of Ethnic Minorities in the Danish Welfare Society – Dilemmas and Challenges*, paper prepared for the XVI ISA World Congress of Sociology, RC 19. Durban, South Africa, 23–29 July 2006

Andreassen, R. (2005). *The Mass Media's Construction of Gender, Race, Sexuality and Nationality. An Analysis of the Danish News Media's Communication about Visible Minorities from 1971–2004*, PhD dissertation, Dept. of History, University of Toronto.

Castles, Stephen et al. (1984) Here for Good: Western Europe's New Ethnic Minorities, London: Pluto Press.

Christensen, C. C. (2004). "News Media Consumption among Immigrants in Europe: the Relevance of Diaspora", in *Ethnicities*, Vol. 2, no. 2, June 2004, pp 185-207.

Christiansen, Simon et al. (2004) Minority Report – Focus on Ethnic Inequality in Denmark. MiXeuorpe, Copenhagen, October 2004.

Available at:

http://www.mixeurope.dk/fileadmin/documents/report280105.pdf (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Colding, B. (2005). *A Dynamic Analysis of Educational Progression: Comparing Children of Immigrants and Natives*, AMID Working Paper Series no. 37, 2005. Available at: http://www.amid.dk/pub/papers/AMID\_37-2005\_Bjorg\_Colding.pdf (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Diken, B. (1998). *Strangers, Ambivalence and Social Theory*. Danish Centre for Ethnic and Migration Studies & Ashgate, Aldershot.

European Commission on Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) (2000). *The 2nd Country Report on Denmark,* ECRI, Strasburg. Available at: http://www.ecri.coe.int

European Commission on Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) (2006). *The 3rd Country Report on Denmark*, ECRI, Strasburg, 2004. Available at: <u>http://www.ecri.coe.int</u>

European Network on Anti-Racism (ENAR) (2004). *Shadow Report on Denmark*, ECRI, Brussels, 2004. Available at: <u>http://www.enar-eu.org/en/national/denmark/Denmark2004\_enOK.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Graversen, B.K. et al. (1997) Residential Mobility in Danish Problem Housing Estates. AKF Publishers, Copenhagen, 1997.

Hansen, J.-V. (2004). "Family Reunion – Generalised Restrictions", in Christiansen, Simon *et al.* (eds), *Minority Report – Focus on Ethnic Inequality in Denmark*, MiXeuorpe, Copenhagen, October 2004. Available at:

http://www.mixeurope.dk/fileadmin/documents/report280105.pdf (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Hjarnø, L. (2000). *Deviant behaviour among migrant youth – a Danish case*, Working paper no. 33, Danish Centre for Migration and Ethnic Studies, Esbjerg, 2000.

Jagd, C. B. (2004). *Breaking the Pattern of Unemployment through Social Networks*, paper presented at the 13<sup>th</sup> Nordic Migration Conference, November 18-20 2004.

Jensen, I., et al. (2001). Self-employment for immigrants: a last resort?, unpublished working paper.

Hussain, M. (1998). *Police Training Project: The Police in a Multicultural Society*, interim Project Report and the 2<sup>nd</sup> European Workshop Proceedings, UK Police Staff College Bramshill. Public Impact and Reading Council of Racial Equality, Reading, 1998.

Husted, L., et al. (2000). Hit Twice? Danish Evidence on the Double-Negative Effect on the Wages of Immigrant Women, CLS Working paper, June 2000.

Hussain, M. (2000a). "Exclusion as Discursive Practice and the Politics of Identity", in R. Phillipson (ed), *Rights to Language. Equity, Power and Education. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates*, Mahwah, New Jersey.

Hussain, M. (2000b). "Islam, Media and Minorities in Denmark" in *Current Sociology*, Vol. 48 (4), Special Issue on the Muslim Family in Europe, October, 2000, pp 95-116.

Hussain, M. (2002b). "Denmark", in J. Ter Wal (ed), *Racism and Cultural Diversity in the Mass Media*. *An Overview of Research and Examples of Good Practice in the EU Member States*, 1995–2000, European Monitoring Centre on Racism and Xenophobia (EUMC), Vienna.

Græm, C. D. (2003). *Constituting Political Community: The Case of Danish Integration Councils*, MSc dissertation in Political Science, Dept. of Sociology, LSE, London, 2003.

Hussain, M. (2003b). "Media Representation of Ethnicity and the Institutional Discourse", in T. Tufte (ed), *Media, Minorities and the Multicultural Society*, The Nordic Association of Communication Researchers (NORDICOM), Gothenburg University, 2003.

Hussain, M., & J. M. Monnier (2004a). "'Ethnic' Crime, Policing & Society", in Simon Christiansen *et al.* (eds), *Minority Report – Focus on Ethnic Inequality in Denmark*, MiXeuorpe, Copenhagen. Available at: <u>http://www.mixeurope.dk/fileadmin/documents/report280105.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Larsen, R. E. (2006a). *Danish Hate-Speech and Xenophobia (Selected English Translations of Hate-Speech in Denmark against the Muslims, Islam and the Immigrants),* webpage on Panhumanism.com Available at: <u>http://www.panhumanism.com/xenophobia/index.php</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Lassen, N., & L. Tranekjær (2003). *Changing Attitudes – Confronting and Conforming Attitude-Training Practices*, MA dissertation, Roskilde University Centre, Roskilde.

Larsen, R. E. (2006b) Danish Hate-Speech and Xenophobia. (Selected Examples from the International Media's Criticism on Xenophobic Development in Denmark in the Aftermath of General Elections, November 2001), webpage on Panhumanism.com Available at: http://www.panhumanism.com/blog/new.php (accessed on 2 March 2007).

National Focal Point for Denmark (2004). *Report on Education*, Documentary and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination (DACoRD), Copenhagen. Available at: <u>http://eumc.europa.eu/eumc/material/pub/RAXEN/4/edu/R4-EDU-DA.pdf</u> (accessed on 2

Available at: <u>http://eumc.europa.eu/eumc/material/pub/RAXEN/4/edu/R4-EDU-DA.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2005), Factsheet, Denmark, Copenhagen, 2005.

Available at: <u>http://www.inm.dk/imagesUpload/dokument/Integration\_in\_Denmark.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

National Focal Point for Denmark (2005). *National Annual Report*, Documentary and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination (DACoRD), Copenhagen.

Necef, M. (1996). *Ethnic identity and language shift among young Turks in Denmark)*, PhD dissertation, Odense University (re-named Univ. of South Denmark), Odense.

Quraishy, B. (2002–2005). *Shadow Reports on the Danish Discriminatory Practices*, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, The European Network of Anti-Racism (ENAR), Brussels.

Stenum, H. (2005). "Danmark (Denmark)", in J. Niessen *et al.* (eds), *Current Immigration Debate in Europe*, Danish Institute for Human Rights and Migration Policy Group (MPG), Brussels, 2005.

Tinor-Centi, E., & M. Hussain (1999). "Policing in a multicultural society. The background and experience of a Danish project", in Npeab News/ Issue no. 7, National Police Ethnic Advisory Bureau, Melbourne, 1999.

Togeby, L. (2004). "Participation in Elections", Chapter 12 in Christiansen, Simon *et al.* (eds) *Minority Report – Focus on Ethnic Inequality in Denmark*, MiXeuorpe, Copenhagen. Available at: <u>http://www.mixeurope.dk/fileadmin/documents/report280105.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Tufte, T. (2001). "Minority Youth, Media Uses and Identity Struggle. The Role of the Media in Production of Locality", in Ross, K. (ed), *Black Marks: Research Studies with Minority Ethnic Audiences*. Ashgate, Aldershot, 2001.

Trænæs, T., and K. Zimmermann (eds) (2004). *Migrant, Work and the Welfare State*, The Rockwool Foundation Research Unit, Southern Denmark University (SDU) Press, 2004.

Yilmaz, F. (2006). *Ethnicized Ontologies: From Foreign Worker to Muslim Immigrant. How Danish Public Discourse Moved to the Right through the Question of Immigration*, PhD dissertation, Faculty of Communication, University of California, San Diego, 2006.

Wren, K. (2001). "Cultural Racism in Denmark – Something is Rotten in the State of Denmark", in *Social & Cultural Geography*, Vol. (2), No. 2, 2001.

#### In Danish

AC (2000). *Fagblade mod Fremmedhad* (Trade Journals against Xenophobia), The Federation of Academics (AC), Copenhagen, 2000.

Andersen, H. S. (2005). *Den sociale og etniske udvikling i den almene boligsektor* (Social and ethnic development in the public housing sector), The National Building Research Institute (SBI), Copenhagen.

Ansel-Henry, A., & S. B. Jespersen (2003). *Konflikt på gadeplan – når etnisk minoritetsungdom og politiet mødes* (Conflict on the street level – encounters between the police and the ethnic minority youth), Centre for Youth Research, Roskilde University Centre, Roskilde, 2003.

Barfod, A., & O. Leimand (1996). *Sindslidende indvandrere og flygtninge* (Immigrants and refugees with a mental disorder), Social Development Centre (SUS), Copenhagen, 1996.

Barfod, A. (1997). *Integration, Rummelighed og Tolerance* (Integration, Broadness and Tolerance), Fagligt netværk Socialpsykiarti (Professional network of Social Psychiatry), Social Development Centre (SUS), Copenhagen, 1997.

Barfod, A., and L. Persson (2000). *Etniske sindslidelse i kommunerne* (The mental disorder of ethnic minorities across the municipalities), Social Development Centre (SUS), Copenhagen, 2000.

Bay, J. (1999). *Endnu et kriminalpolitisk trylleord – gadebande* (Yet another magic word in crime preventive policy – the street gangs), Institute of Legal Science (D), Copenhagen University, 1999.

BL (2001). *Analyse af situationen på boligmarked* (An analysis of the situation in the housing market), The (Danish) Association of Housing Societies (BL), 2001.

Boerresen, S. K. (2000). *Fremmedhed og praksis – om tyrkiske og pakistanske indvandreres bosætning og boligvalg* (Foreignness and practice – the Turkish and Pakistani immigrants' settlement patterns and the choice of housing), PhD dissertation, Dept. of Sociology, Copenhagen University, 2000.

Boerresen, S. K. (2002). *Boligmæssig segregering. Hvad er årsagen til, at flygtninge og indvandrere bor koncentreret i belastede boligområder?* (Segregation in Housing: why are the immigrants and refugees clustered in socially deprived neighbourhoods?), AMID Working Paper Series no. 14, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Boyd, S., *et al.* (eds) (1994). *Sporgbrug og sporgvalg blandt indvandrere i Norden* (Language use and language choice among the immigrants in the Nordic Countries), The Royal Danish School of Education, Copenhagen, 1994.

Bundgaard, H., & E. Gulløv (2005). "Sprogvurdering af tosprogede børn – et eksempel på politisk styring af pædagogisk arbejde" (Measuring of language qualifications of the bilingual children – an example of political intervention in the pedagogical sphere), in *Vera*, no 30 /2005. Available at <u>www.vera.dk</u>

Christensen, C. C. (2001). "TV-Nyheder fra Hjemlandet – integration eller ghettoisering" (TV news from the homeland – integration or ghettoisation), in *Mediekultur* no. 32, 2001, pp 31–50.

Christensen, E., & D. Sloth (2005). *Børn med anden etnisk baggrund ved skolestart* (School-starting children with a minority ethnic background), The Danish National Institute for Social Research (SFI), 2005.

Available at: http://www.sfi.dk/sw23713.asp (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Crime Preventive Council (1998). *Etniske grupper: Kriminalitet og forebyggelse* (The ethnic groups: criminality and crime prevention), Crime Preventive Council & the National Police, Copenhagen, 1998.

Dahl, K. M. (2005). *Etniske minoriteter i tal* (Ethnic Minorities in numbers), The Danish National Institute for Social Research (SFI), 2005. Available at: <u>http://www.sfi.dk/sw27196.asp</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Dahl, K. M., & V. Jacobsen (2005) Køn, etnicitet og barrierer for integration. Fokus på uddannelse, arbejde og familieliv (Gender, ethnicity and barriers for integration. Focus on education, work and family life), The Danish National Institute for Social Research (SFI), 2005. Available at: <a href="http://www.sfi.dk/sw23713.asp">www.sfi.dk/sw23713.asp</a> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Egelund, N., & B. Rangvid (2005). *PISA – København 2004: Kompetencer hos elever i 9. klasse* (PISA Report – Copenhagen 2004: Competence of pupils in the 9th grade), AKF Publishers, Copenhagen, 2005.

Ejrnæs, A. (2003). *Fleksibilitet og etnisk segregering* (Flexibility and ethnic segregation), Working paper, Dept. of Social Science, Roskilde University Centre, 2003.

Ejrnæs, M. (2001). Integrationsloven – en case der illustrerer etnisk minoriteters usikre medborgerskabet (The Integration Law – a case that illustrates ethnic minorities' uncertain citizenship rights), AMID Working Paper Series no. 1, Academy of Migration Studies in Denmark (AMID), Aalborg University, Aalborg.

Elverdam, B (1991). *Muslimske Kvinders møde med danske hospitaler og praksislæge*. (The encounters between the Muslim women and Danish hospitals & medical practitioners), 1991.

Fenger-Grøn, C., K. Qureshi and T. Seidenfaden (2003). "Når du strammer garnet, kvæler du jo barnet" (When you tighten the yarn, you strangle the child), in C. Fenger-Grøn *et al.* (eds), *Når du strammer garnet* (When you tighten the yarn), Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2003.

Flachs, L., & K. Meldgaard (1999). "Tilslutning til børneundersøgelser og vaccinationer – et forsøg på at bedre tilslutningen" (An exercise for securing a better response (from the minority parents) for medical check-ups and vaccinations of children), in *Månedsskrift for Praktisk Lægegerning* (monthly newsletter of medical practitioners), no. 77, 1999, pp 249-256.

Gimble, J. (1998). "Tyrkisk børns fagrelevante danske ordforråd i femte klasse" (The vocabulary of Danish among 5<sup>th</sup>-grade Turkish pupils with relevance to school curricula), in J. Møller (ed), *Tosproget Udvikling* (Bilingual Development), Copenhagen Studies in Bilingualism, Copenhagen, 1998.

Ghosh, F. (2000). *Minoritetssocialrådgivere i et majoritetssamfund* (Minority social workers in a majority environment), The Association of Social Workers in Denmark, 2000.

Gundelach, P. (2002). Åh at være dansker! (Oh! To be a Dane!), Hans Reitzel, Copenhagen, 2002.

Gundersen, M., et al. (2003). Opdragelse eller inddragelse. En feltanalyse af forældresamarbejdet med etniske minoriteter i folkeskolen (Upbringing or inclusion? A field study of school-parents cooperation regarding ethnic minorities), MA -dissertation, Roskilde University Centre, 2003.

Hahnemann, L. (1998). *Racistisk chikane og vold i et boligområde* (Racial harassment and violence in a residential area), Documentation and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination (DACoRD), Copenhagen, 1998.

Hammer, O., & I. Bruun (2000). *Etnisk minoriteters indflydelseskanaler* (Ethnic minorities' channels of influence), The Power Enquiry of the Parliament and the Dept. of Political Science, Aarhus University, Aarhus, 2000.

Hansen, A. R. (2006). *Etnisk minoriteters sundhed: litteraturdatabase* (The health of ethnic minorities: literature database), The National Institute of Public Health, Copenhagen University, 2006. Available at: <u>http://www.si-</u>

folkesundhed.dk/Forskning/Befolkningens%20sundhedstilstand/Etniske%20minoriteters%20sundhed/Litt eraturdatabase/Database.aspx (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Hedetoft, U. (2002), "Etnisk minoriteters kontakt til den øvrige befolkning" (The ethnic minorities' contacts with the rest of the population, Chapter 6 in Ministry of Integration (2002).

Hervik, P. (ed) (1999). *Den Generende Forskellighed. Danske svar på den stigende multikulturalisme* (The Annoying Diversity: the Danish response to increasing multiculturalism), Hans Reitzels Publishers, Copenhagen, 1999.

Hervik, P. (2002). *Mediernes Muslimer: En antropologisk undersøgelse af mediernes dækning af religioner i Danmark* (The Muslims of the media: an anthropological survey of the media's coverage of religions in Denmark), Board for Ethnic Equality, Copenhagen, 2002.

Hervik, P. (2003). "Det danske fjendebillede" (The Danish image of an enemy), in M. Shiekh *et al.* (eds), *Islam i bevægelse* (The dynamics in Islam (alternatively) Islam under transformation), Academic Publishers, Copenhagen, 2003.

Hervik, P., and R. E. Jørgensen (2002). "Danske benægtelse af racisme" (The Danish denial of racism), in *Dansk sociologi I Dag* (Journal of the Norwegian Sociological Association) no. 4/2002.

Hetmar, T. (1991). *Tosproget elever - en undervisning i udvikling* (Bilingual pupils – the teaching methods under development), The Danish Royal School of Education, Copenhagen, 1991.

Holmberg, L. (1999). *Inden for lovens rammer – politiets arbejdsmetoder og konkrete skøn*, (Within the limits of law – the working methods of the police and concrete judgements), (based on a PhD dissertation at Copenhagen University), Gyldendal Publishers, Copenhagen, 1999.

Holmen, A. (2001). *Tosprogede elevers tekstkompetencer* (Bilingual pupils' text competences), conference report from the Nordic Network of Text and Literature Pedagogy, 2001.

Holmen, A. (2002). *Betydningen af sprog, tosprogethed og sprogligt bårne kulturformer for integrationsprocesserne* (The role of language, bilingualism and the language-based cultural forms in the integration processes), AMID Working Paper Series no. 23, The Academy of Migration Studies in Denmark, Aalborg University, 2002.

Holmen, A., *et al.* (eds) (1999). *På Sporet – en antologi om undervisning i dansk som andetsprog*, (On the Tracks – an anthology on the teaching of Danish as a second language), Directorate of Education, Copenhagen, 1999.

Hjarnø, J., & T. Bager (1997). *Diskriminering af unge med indvandrerbaggrund ved jobsøgning* (Discrimination of young applicants with immigrant backgrounds during job applications), Research Paper no. 21, DAMES. Esbjerg, 1997.

Horst, C. (1994), "Kulturmødet. Norm og acceptabilitet" (Cultural encounter: the norm and acceptability, in Horst and Lund (eds), *Norm og acceptabilitet – sproglige og kulturelle forskelligheder i det* 

*flerkulturelle samfund* (The norm and acceptability – language and cultural differences in a multicultural society), DPU Forlag, Copenhagen, 1994.

Horst, C. (1999). *Integration. Fokus på tosprogede småbørn* (Integration. Focus on bilingual small children), the Ministries of Education and Social Affairs, Copenhagen, 1999.

Hummelgaard, H., and L. Husted (2001). Social og etnisk bestemte bosætning – årsager og konsekvenser (The cause and effect of socially and ethnically determined settlement), AKF Publishers, Copenhagen, 2001.

Hummelgaard, H., *et al.* (2002). *Uddannelse og arbejde for andengenerationsindvandrere*, (Education and work for the second-generation immigrants), AKF Publishers, Copenhagen, 2002.

Hussain, M., *et al.* (1997). *Medierne, minoriteterne og majoriteten – en undersøgelse af nyhedsmedier og den folkelige diskurs* (The media, minorities and the majority – an investigation of the news media and the public discourse), Board for Ethnic Equality, Copenhagen, 1997.

Hussain, M. (2002a). "Etniske minoriteters politiske organisering i Danmark" (Political organisation of the ethnic minorities in Denmark), in F. Mikkelsen (ed), *Bevægelser i Demokrati*, Political movements in democracy, Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2002.

Hussain, M. (2003a). "Diskurs om islam i medier og politik" (Discourse on Islam in the media and politics), in M. Shiekh *et al.* (eds), *Islam i bevægelse* (The dynamics in Islam (alternatively) Islam under transformation), Academic Publishers, Copenhagen, 2003.

Hussain, M. (2004a). "Magtudredningen og holdninger til de "fremmede" – en kritisk kommentar" (The Power Enquiry and attitudes about the "foreigners" – a critical note), in *Dansk Sociologi*, no. 1/15, May 2004.

Hussain, M. (2004b). "Tolerance for den etniske Anden – et øjebliksbillede i nutid og dated" (Tolerance for the ethnic 'Other' – a snapshot from the present and the past), in Dalager and Jørgensen (eds), *Tid til respekt* (Time to respect), Socialpolitisk Forlag, Copenhagen, 2004.

Hussain, M., and J.-M.Monnier (2004b). "Politiet – Statens diskrimination?" (The police – discrimination by the state?), in C. Fenger-Grøn *et al.* (eds), *Når du strammer garnet* ("When you tighten the yarn"), Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2004.

Hvenegård-Lassen, K. (1996). *Grænseland. Minoriteter, rettigheder og det national idé,* (Borderland: minorities, rights and the idea of the national), The Danish Centre for Human Rights, Copenhagen, 1996.

IntegrationStatus (2004). 1. halvår (First half year report), Catinét Research, Copenhagen, 2004.

IntegrationStatus (2005). 1. halvår (First half year report), Catinét Research, Copenhagen, 2005.

Jakobsen, V. (2002). Uddannelse og danskkundskaber. Om Uddannelse og danskkundskabers betydning for etniske minoriteters integration i det danske samfund (The importance of the level of education and knowledge of the Danish language for ethnic minorities' integration into Danish Society), AMID Working Paper Series no. 10, The Academy of Migration Studies in Denmark, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Jensen, I. (2000). *Hvornår er man lige kvalificeret?* (When is one equally qualified?), the Board for Ethnic Equality, Copenhagen, 2000.

Jeppesen, K. J. (1994). *Minoriteter og det social system* (Minorities and the social system), The National Social Research Institute (SFI), Copenhagen, 1994.

Justesens, P. (2000). *Lighedskrav for etniske minoriteter på arbejdsmarkedet* (Equal treatment of ethnic minorities in the labour market), PhD dissertation, Copenhagen University. Federation of Jurists and Economists Publishers (DJØF), Copenhagen, 2000.

Justesen, P. (2003). "International Kritik – Den nationale arrogance" (International Criticism – the national arrogance), in C. Fenger-Grøn *et al.* (eds), *Når du strammer garnet* (When you tighten the yarn), Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2003.

Kehlet, C. (2000). *Demokratiske barrierer – Om etnisk minoriteters politisk deltagelse i Danmark* (The democratic barriers – political participation of immigrants in Denmark), MA dissertation, Institute of Anthropology, Copenhagen University, 2000.

Khadar, N. (1996). Ære og Skam – Det islamisk familie og livsmønster fra undfangelse til grav (Honour and Shame – the Islamic family's life-cycle patterns from conception of the baby to the grave), Borgen Publishers, Copenhagen, 1996.

Koch-Nielsen, I., and I. Christiansen (2002). *Effekten af den boligsociale indsats over for indvandrere og flygtninge* (Effects of social policy in the housing sector on the situation of the immigrants and refugees), AMID Working Paper Series no. 16, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Kofoed, J. (1994). *Midt i Normalen. Om minoriteter og den nationale idé* (Among the Normal. About minorities and the national idea), The Royal School of Education, Copenhagen, 1994.

Krejsler, J., *et al.* (2005). "Integration, nation og tosprogethed" (Integration, nation and bilingualism), in *Pædagogisk Antropologi*, No. 4 /2005, The Danish University of Education (DPU).

Kysgaard, B. (1996). "Er indvandrere mere kriminelle end danskere?" (Are the immigrants more criminal than the Danes?), in *Samspil* No. 8/2006.

Kysgaard, B. (2001). "Kriminalitet, retshåndhævelse og etnisk minoriteter" (Criminality, enforcement of the law and the ethnic minorities), in *Juristen* No. 9/2001.

Landsted, A. (2003). "Adopteredes Oplevelse. Skridt hjem til dit eget land" (The experience of the adopted children. "Fuck off to your own country"), in Fenger-Grøn, C., *et al.* (eds) *Når du strammer garnet* ("When you tighten the yarn"), Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2003.

Larsen, K. (1999). *Statistik om de etniske minoriteter i Danmark* (Statistics on ethnic minorities in Denmark), Danish Council for International Cooperation (MS), Copenhagen, 1999.

Mehlbye, J., *et al.* (2000). *Et frit valg? – unges overgang fra grundskolen til ungdomsuddannelserne – om danske unge fra etniske minoriteter* (A free choice? Transition from the primary to intermediate education for young people – on the situation of Danish young people belonging to ethnic minorities), AKF Publishers, Copenhagen, 2000.

Mikkelsen, F. (2001). Integrations Paradoks (The Paradox of Integration), Catenét, Copenhagen, 2001.

Mikkelsen F. (2002) *Indvandrere og civil samfund* (Immigrants and the civil society), AMID Working Paper Series no. 18/ 2002, Academy for Migration Studies in Denmark (AMID). Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Mikkelsen, F. (2003). *Indvandrere Organisationer i Norden* (Immigrant Organisations in the Nordic Countries), AMID and The Council of Nordic Ministers, 2003.

Mikkelsen, F. (2004). *Religiøsitet og identitet* (Religious affiliation and identity), Catinét Research, Copenhagen, 2004.

Mikkelsen, F. (2006). *Transnational solidaritet under forandring*. *Indvandrernes sociale, religiøse og politisk mobilisering i Danmark 1965–2006 i et internationalt perspective* (The transformation of transnational solidarity: the social, religious and political mobilisation of immigrants in Denmark 1965–2006 in an international perspective), (in press).

Ministry of Education (1998). *Vejledning om organisering af folkeskolens tosprogede elever* (Directives on the organisation of teaching for bilingual pupils in public schools), Ministry of Integration, 1998.

Ministry of Education (1999). *Dansk på arbejde – arbejde på dansk* (Danish language in the workplace – work in Danish), Ministry of Education, Copenhagen.

Ministry of Education (2000). *Rapport om praktikpladsproblematikken* (Report on Apprenticeship Problematique), Ministry of Education, Copenhagen, 2000.

Ministry of Education (2001). *Indvandrere og efterkommere i uddannelsessystemet* (Immigrants and descendants in the educational system), Ministry of Education, Copenhagen, 2001

Ministry of Employment (1999). *Redegørelse om etniske ligestilling og integration på arbejdsmarkedet* (Report on ethnic equality and integration in the labour market), Ministry of Employment, Copenhagen, 1999.

Ministry of Employment (2000a). *Handlingsplan om etnisk ligestilling* (Plan of action for ethnic equality), Ministry of Employment, Copenhagen, 2000.

Ministry of Employment (2000b). *Inspiration til integration af etnisk minoriteter på offentlige arbejdspladser* (Inspiration for integration of ethnic minorities in public sector employment). ). Ministry of Employment, Copenhagen, 20000.

Ministry of Integration (2002). *Integrationsforskningen i Danmark 1980–2002* (Integration Research in Denmark 1980–2002), Ministry of Integration, Copenhagen, 2002.

Ministry of Integration (2005). *Aarbog om Udlændinger* (Yearbook on Foreigners), Copenhagen, 2005. Available at: <u>www.inm.dk</u>

Ministry of Integration (2005). *Udlændinge på ungdomsuddannelserne – frafald og faglige kundskaber* (Foreigners in the higher secondary schools – the dropout rate and proficiency),

Ministry of Integration, Copenhagen, 2005.

Available at: <u>www.inm.dk/publikationer/taenketank\_ungdom\_uddannelse/index.htm</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Ministry of Integration (2005b). *Cirkulære om naturalisation* (Circular on naturalisation), Ministry of Integration, Copenhagen, 8 December 2005.

Ministry of Integration (2006). *Udvikling i udlændinges integration i det danske samfund* (Trends and development in the integration of foreigners in Denmark), Ministry of Integration, Think Tank Report, Copenghagen, 2006.

Mogensen, G. V., and P. C. Mattiessen (2000). *Integration i Danmark omkring årtusindskiftet*. *Indvandrernes møde med arbejdsmarkedet og velfærdssamfund* (Integration in Denmark at the turn of the millennium: the immigrants' encounter with the Danish labour market and the welfare society), Rockwool Foundation's Research Unit, Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2000.

Mørck, Y. (1998). *Bindestregs-Danskere. Fortællinger om køn, generationer og etnicitet* (Umbilical Cord's Danish: narratives on gender, generations and ethnicity), PhD dissertation, Dept. of Anthropology, Copenhagen University, Sociology Publishers, Frederiksberg, 1998.

Mørck, Y. (2001). "Etnisk minoritets unge og demokratiske medborgerskab" (Ethnic minority youth and democratic citizenship), in A.-D.C hristiansen and B. Siim (eds), *Gender, Democracy and Modernity. Towards New Political Identities*, Hans Reitzels Publishers, Copenhagen.

Mørkeberg, H. (2000). *Indvandrernes uddannelse* (The educational profile of the immigrants), Danish Bureau of Statistics, Copenhagen, 2000.

Møller, B., & L. Togeby (1999). *Oplevet Diskrimination* (The Experienced Discrimination), Board for Ethnic Equality, Copenhagen, 1999.

Nielsen, A. (2002). *Sundhedsvæsnet og de etniske minoriteter* (The health system and ethnic minorities), AMID Working Paper Series no. 28, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Nielsen, B. (2003). "Etnisk mobning af børn og unge. Opvækst i et anti-rum" (Ethnic taunting of children and youth: growing up in an 'anti-space'), in Fenger-Grøn, C., *et al.* (eds), *Når du strammer garnet* ("When you tighten the yarn"), Aarhus University Publishers, Aarhus, 2003.

Nielsen, J. C. (1996). Læseundervisning i klasse med tosprogede elever (Teaching quality in text-reading in the classrooms with bilingual pupils). The Danish Institute for Pedagogical Studies, Copenhagen.

Nielsen, J. C. (1997). *Tosprogede elevers danskkundskaber på de ældste klassetrin* (Danish skills among the bilingual pupils in senior grades in schools), The Danish Institute for Pedagogical Studies, Copenhagen, 1997.

Nielsen, J. C. (1998). Tosprogede levers sprog og læsning på deres første og andetsprog – en undersøgelse af tyrkisksprogede elever (Bilingual pupils' language and reading skills in their first and second languages – a survey of the Turkish-speaking pupils), The Danish Institute for Pedagogical Studies, Copenhagen, 1998.

Nielsen, J. J. (2004). "Start hjælp skaber klienter" (The Start-Help package creates clients), in Dalager, S & P. S. Jørgensen (eds), *Tid til respekt* (Time to respect), Socialpolitisk Forlag, Copenhagen, 2004.

Pakalski, K., and M. Aarø (2000). *Genoplevining af etnicitet blandt alevier I Danmark* (The rebirth of ethnicity among the Alevi in Denmark), MA dissertation, Dept. of History of Religion, Copenhagen University, 2000.

Pedersen, P. J. (2002). Arbejdsmarkedsintegration, arbejdsmarkedspolitik og overførelsesindkomster. Forskningsmæssige viden om immigration fra mindre udviklede lande siden 1980 (Labour market integration, labour market policy and transfer payments: research-based knowledge on immigration from the less developed countries since 1980), AMID Working Paper Series no. 7., Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

PET (2006). Årsberretningen 2006 (Annual Report 2006), Rigspolitichefen, Copenhagen, 2006.

Petersen, E., *et al.* (1999). *Jyders, Øboeres og Københavners holdninger til flytninger og indvandrere* (The attitudes towards refugees and immigrants among the Jutlanders, Copenhageners and Danes living on (small) islands), Dept. of Psychology, Aarhus University, Aarhus, 1999.

PLS Rambøll Management (1996). *Praktikpladssituationen for etnisk minoriteter* (The situation of apprenticeship possibilities for the ethnic minorities), Board for Ethnic Equality, 1996.

PLS Rambøll Management (2002). *Fravære fra danskundervisningen for udlændinge* (Absence from Danish language classes among the foreigners), The Ministry of the Interior, 2002.

Quraishy, B. (2000). "Etnisk minoriteters selvorganisering" (The self-organisations of ethnic minorities) in *Social Forskning* Special Issue, Ethnic Minorities in the Welfare State, December 2000.

Rashid, R. (2001). Et løft af sløret (An unveiling), Gyldendal Publishers, Copenhagen, 2001.

Rask, C. (2004). *De fremmed danske pigers parallelle universer. Om konstruktion af etnicitet, køn og fremmedhed* (The parallel universes of the foreign Danish girls: about the construction of ethnicity, gender and 'foreignness'), MA dissertation, Dept. of Social Science, Roskilde University Centre, Roskilde, 2004.

Regering (2004). *Regerings strategi mod ghettoisering* (The government's strategy against ghettoisation), Government of Denmark, Copenhagen, 2004.

Available at: <u>http://www.inm.dk/publikationer/\_regpubghettoisering/index.htm</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Regering (2005). *En ny chance til alle – regerings integrations plan* (A new chance for everyone – the government's action plan for integration), Government of Denmark and Ministry of Integration, Copenhagen, 2005

Rezai, S. (2002). <u>Indvandrerejede virksomheder</u> (Immigrant-owned enterprises), AMID Working Paper Series no. 8, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Rezai, S. (2005). *Det duale arbejdsmarked i et velfærdsstatsligt perspektiv. Et studie af dilemmaet mellem uformel økonomisk praksis og indvandreres socio-økonomisk integration* (The dual employment market: a dilemma between informal economic practice and the socio-economic integration of the immigrants), 2005.

Available at: <u>http://www.ruc.dk/upload/application/pdf/f51d6748/Hovedrapport%20-</u>%20det%20duale%20arbejdsmarked%20-%20December%202005%20-%20ink1%20bilag%20-%20FinalVersion.pdf (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Rezai, S., and M. Goli (2005). *Indvandrers tætte netværk: katalysator eller hæmsko for innovation og vækst?* (The stronger network ties of immigrants: a catalyst or an impediment to innovation and growth?), Sub-report 1 in the project "Self-employed immigrants", Dept. of Social Science and Business Economics, Roskilde University Centre (RUC), Roskilde, 2005.

Rifberg, K. (2000). "Ny Nazisme?" (Neo-Nazism?), n i Politiken i Norden, No. 1(1)/2001.

Rohleder, N. (1997). *Drengene fra Blågårdsplads* (The boys from Blaagaards Square), Information Publishers, Copenhagen, 1997.

Rosholm, M., *et al.* (2002). *Integration over generationer? Anden generations indvandrernes uddannelse* (Integration over generations? The second-generation immigrants' educational achievements), Mimeo, 2002.

Rørgild, F. (1995). *Stemmer i et grænseland: en bro mellem unge indvandrere og danskere?* (Voices from a borderland: a bridge between the migrant youth and the Danes?), Politisk Revy Publications, Copenhagen, 1995.

Rørgild, F. (2002). *Et nyt dansk råstof? Forskning i etnisk minoritets unge fra 1980-2001: Et forsknings Project* (A new Danish raw material? A research project on the research on ethnic minority youth from 1980 to 2001), AMID Working Paper Series no. 24, Academy of Migration Studiesn in Denmark (AMID), Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Seeberg, P. (1995). *Tosprogede elever i gymnasiet og hf* (Bilingual students in preuniversity/intermediate colleges), the Ministry of Education, Copenhagen, 1995.

Seeberg, P. (1996). *Migration og Uddannelse: om etnisk ligestilling i det danske uddannelsessystem* (Migration and Education: ethnic equality in the Danish educational system). In Simonsen, J. B., *et al.*, Tosprogede elever (Bilingual students), the Ministry of Education., Copenhagen, 1996.

Schierup, C.-U. (1993). På Kulturens Slagmark (In the Battlefield of Culture). South Jutland University Publishers.

Schläger, D., *et al.* (2005). *Sundhedsforhold blandt etniske minoriteter- en litteraturgennemgang* (Health Situation of the ethnic minorities – a literature overview). Available at: <u>http://www.si-folkesundhed.dk/upload/Kapitel\_7\_-</u> <u>Læsevejledning\_til\_litteraturoversigt.pdf\_bilag\_001.pdf</u> (accessed on 2 March 2007).

Schmidt, G., and V. Jacobsen (2000). 20 år I Danmark. En undersøgelse af nydanskeres situation og erfaringer (Twenty years in Denmark: research on the new Danes' situation and experiences), National Institute of Social Research (SFI), Copenhagen, 2000.

Skytte, M. (2002a). *Anbringelse af etniske minoritetsbørn* (Replacement for social custody of the minority ethnic children), PhD dissertation, University of Lund, Lund, 2002.

Skytte, M. (2002b). *Sociale indsatser i forhold til de allersvageste blandt de etniske minoriteter* (Social measures for the most vulnerable among the ethnic minorities), AMID. Working Paper Series no. 29, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Staunæs, D. (2003). *Etnicitet, køn og skoleliv* (Ethnicity, gender and school life), PhD dissertation, Dept. of Communication, Roskilde University, Roskilde, 2003.

Stonor, L. (2000). *Netværk for integration og identitet. Analyse af somaliske foreninger i Danmark* (Networks for integration and identity: an analysis of Somali organisations in Denmark), MA dissertation, Dept. of English and International Studies, Aalborg University, 2000.

Sulatn, K. (2000). *Etnisk arbejdsdeling i hotel- og restaurations branchen* (Ethnic division of labour in the hotel and catering sector), Documentation and Advisory Centre on Racial Discrimination (DACoRD), Copenhagen, 2000.

Thomsen, M. H., and M. Moes (2002). *Kompetenser mellem kulturalisering og mangforldighed. Om brugen og bedømmelsen af etniske minoriteters kompetencer og ressourcer på det danske arbejdsmarked* (Competence between culturalisation and diversity. The utilisation and evaluation of ethnic minorities' competence and resources in the Danish labour market), AMID Working Paper Series no. 9, Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Tireli, Û. (1996). "Etnicitet i Socialt Arbejde" (Ethnicity in Social Work), in *Social Kritik* (journal of critical social analysis and debate), Vol. 45/46, 1996.

Togeby, L. (2002). *Etnisk minoriteters delatgelse I demokratiske processer, herunder politiske partier, valg og offentlig debat* (Participation in the democratic processes: ethnic minorities' participation in political parties, elections and the public debate), AMID Working Paper Series no. 20., Academy of Migration Studies in Denmark (AMID), Aalborg University, Aalborg, 2002.

Togeby, L. (2003) Fra fremmedarbejder til etniske minoriteter (From foreign workers to ethnic minorities). Hans Rietzels Publishers, Copenhagen.

Tümer, Z. (1992). *Opbygning af selvhjælpsgrupper blandt indvandrerfamilier med handicappede børn gennem genetisk rådgivning og særlig vejledning* (Constituting self-help groups among the immigrant families with disabled children through genetic counselling and special advice), J. F. Kennedy Institute, Glostrup, 1992.

Uni-C Statistik og Analyse (2005). *Statistikinformation* (Statistical Information), 2005. Available at: <u>http://www.statistik.uni-c.dk</u>(accessed on 2 March 2007).

Yilmaz, F. (1999). "Konstruktion af etniske minoriteter: Eliten, medierne og 'etnificering' af den danske debat" (Construction of ethnic minorities – the elite, mass media and the 'ethnification' of the Danish debate), in *Politica* (journal of political science), No. 2/1999.